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CHAPTER XXV.

Ix the fall of Edinburgh Castle, and the provisicn-
ary arrangement with Spain, the first great Catholic
conspiracy against Elizabeth was finally extinguished.
The recusants, disheartened at their desertion by
Philip, flang their cause upon Providence, and the
whole island settled down in a sullen but unresisting
acquiescence. While the danger lasted, the Queen
had not shown to advantage. Sir Francis Walsing-
ham, not once only, but at every trying crisis of her
life, had to describe her conduct as ¢ dishonourable and
dangerous ;’ dishonoyrable, because she never hesitated
to break a promise when to keep it was inconvenient,
and dangerous from the universal distrust which she
had inspired in those who had once relied upon her.
But her disposition to compromise, her extreme objec-
tion to severity or coercion, were better suited to
conciliate defeated enemies. Whether it was policy,
or that, like Hamlet, she “lacked gall,” she never
remembered an injury. She fought with treason by -
being blind to it, and made men loyal in spite of them-
selves, by persistently. trusting them. ‘

Her manners were eminently popular. She was
hard of feature and harsh of voice : * her humours,” as
Sir T. Heneage expressed it, * had not grown weak
with age ; ” but she was free of access to her presence,
quick-witted, and familiar of speech with men of all
degrees. She rode, shot, jested, and drank beer ; spat,

and swore upon orcasions ; swore not like “a comfite
VOL. XI 2
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18 History of England. \Ca. XXV

maker’s wife,” but round, mouth-filling oaths, which
would have satisfiecd Hotspur, — the human character
" shewing always through the royal robes, yet with the
queenly dignity never so impaired that liberties could
be ventured in retnrn.

~+ The public policy of the realm was in the main
! directed by Burghley, but his measures were at all
times liable to be suspended or reversed. She had a
second ear always open to Catholic advisers — pension-
ers, some of them, of Spain —in the household and
the cabinet. Her ladies of the bedchamber were, for
the most part, the friends and correspondents of Mary
Stuart. Her favourite courtiers, men like Lord Oxford
and Lord Henry Howard, were the most poisonous in-
struments of Spanish intrigue. Her *“new minion,” as
he was spitefully called abroad, Leicester’s rival, Sir
Christopher Hatton, was a Catholic in all but the name,
The relations of Elizabeth with these persons, however
insolently remarked upon by the refugees and malig-
nants, were never generally misunderstood, and, if
regretted were regretted only for public reasons b)
her wiser statesmen.

Leicester, no doubt, she would have liked well tc
marry. Leicester had been an object, at one time, of
grave suspicion, and even Cecil’s mind once misgave
him on the ambiguous position in which this noblemar
stood towards his sovereign. But the Spanish Ambas-
sador de Silva enquired curiously into the scaundals
which were flying, and satisfied himself that they were
without foundation. And the absolute silence after-
wards of Mendoza, on a subject on which hatred would
have made him eloquent, is a further and conclusive
snswer to the charges of Allen and Sanders.! Leices-

1 In the encrmous mass of Mendoza's correspondence at Simancas, there




wn) The Reign of Elisabeth. 19

ter continued till his death an object of exceptiona
regard. Hatton, a handsome, innocent, rather absurd
person, was attached to her on the footing of a human
lapdog, and he repaid her caresses with a genuine
devotion, ridiculous only in the language in which it
was expressed.! Elizabeth had nicknames for every
one who was about her person: Burghley was her
s gpirit ; ’ Leicester, her * sweet Robin ;*’ Oxford, her
¢ boar ; ” Hatton, her ¢ Lidds,” her ¢ sheep;" her
mouton, Anglicised into ¢ Mutton.” The letters
addressed to her by statesmen are remarkable for the
absence of formality, for language, often of severe and
startling plainness, unseasoned with a compliment. She
kept her intelligence for Burghley and Walsingham,
and gave her folly to the favourites. The hard politi-*
cian of the cabinet exacted in the palace the most
profound adulation ; she chose to be adored for her
beauty, and complimented as a paragon of perfection.
Her portraits are usually without shadow, as if her
features radiated light. Sometimes she was repre-
sented in more than mortal character; as an Artemis

is not a single imputation upon t\e personal character of Elizabeth. A
vouth calling himself Arthur Dudley, and professing to be the son of Eliza-
beth and Leicester, was presented to Philip in 1585, by Sir Francis Engle-
field. His story was inquired into, and he was treated as an impostor.

1 Sir Harris Nicolas, very strangely as it appears to me, construes Hat-
ton’s letters to Elizabeth as an evidence of a discreditable connection
between them. And yet one of the strongest love passages is followed by
an urgent entreaty to her to marry, and it is not to be supposed he ever
thought she could marry him. * This is the twelfth day since I saw
the brightness of that sun that giveth light unto my sense and soul. I wax
an amazed creature. Give me leave, madam, to remove myself out of this
irksome shadow, ro far as my imagination with these good means, may
lead me towards you: and let me thus salute you: Live forever most ex-
cellent creature, and love some man to show yourself thankful for God's
bigh labour in you. I am too far off to hear your answer to this salutation.
U know it would be full of virtue and great wisdom; but I fear tor some
part thereof I would have but small thanks.” — Hatton to the Queen, Jrae
17, 1573:  Life of Hatton, by Sir H. Nicolas, p. 27




20 History of England. [Cn. XXV

with bow and crescent ; as the Heathen Queen of love
and beauty, as the Christian Regina Ceeli, whose
nativity ! fell close to her own birthday, and whose
fanctions as the virgin of Protestantism she was sup-
posed to supersede. When she appeared as a mere
woman, she was painted in robes, which it is to be
presumed that she actually wore, broidered with eyes
and ears as emblematic of omnipresence — or with
lizards, crocodiles, serpents, and other monsters, em-
blematic, whatever they meant besides, of her own
extraordinary taste.

Hatton tells her when he is writing to her, that ¢ to
-see her was heaven, and the lack of her was hell’s
torment.” ¢ Passion overcomes him,” as he thinks
upon her sweetness. Leicester *“is but half alive ”
when he is absent from “her most blessed presence.”
Even in business of state she was not proof against
flattery. Mendoza could divert her at any time from
disagreeable subjects by turning the conversation upon
her personal excellencies.? Sir John Smith, when
sent on a visit to the Court of France, found it pru-
dent to dispraise the Queen and ladies there to her
Majesty’s advantage.? '

And there were no attentions which more certainly
brought substantial wages. The public service was

1 Sept. 8. Eliz. born Sept. 7.

2 ¢ Divertiendola dellas platicas con otras a que yo estaba cierto habia de
dar oydos, como decirle quan buena estaba.” — Mendoza al Rey, 31 Marzo,
1578: M8. Simancas.

8 “T assure your Majesty of my faith there is more beauty in your
Majesty's finger than in any one lady among them all. I had heard the
French Queen, before 1 saw her, commended to be very fair and of gooc
presence.  Clear skinned she is, but very pale and without colour; her face
reasonably well formed, but for majesty of a princess, God knows rhe hae
aone,” etc. — Sir John Smith to Elizabeth, April, 1576: MSS. Spuse
Rolls House.
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conducted most thriftily — ministers of state had their
reward in doing the business of tne country. Wal-
singham spent his private fortune in his office, and
ruined himself. Sir Henry Sidney declined a peerage,
his viceroyalty in Ireland having left him crippled with
debt. Sir James Crofts excused his accepting a pen-
sion from Spain, on the ground that the Queen allowed
him nothing as controller of her household. Lord
Burghley has left on record, in his own handwriting,
that the grants which he had received from his mistress
had not covered his expenses in attending upon her:
that he had sold lands of his own to maintain his state
at coart, and that the fees of his Treasurership did not
equal the cost of his stable.! But the largesses with-
held from statesmen were given lavishly to the favour-
ites and flatterers. Their office, perhaps, being igno-
minious, required a higher salary. Leicester, who
inherited nothing, his father’s estate having been con-
fiscated, became the wealthiest nobleman in England.
Sinecures, grants of land, and high places about the
court, rewarded the affection of Hatton. Monopolies
which made their fortune ¢ to the utter undoing of
thousands of her Majesty’s subjects,” 2 were heaped on
them and others of their kind — cheap presents, which
cost the Queen nothing. To Hatton was given also
the Naboth’s vineyard of his neighbour the Bishop of

1 “In my whole time I have not for these 26 years been benefited from
her Majesty so much as I was within four years of King Edward. I have
sold as much land of value as ever I had of gifts from her Majesty. I am
at charge by attendance upon court, and by keeping of my household
specially in term time by resort of suitors, more than any councillor in
England. My fee for the Treasurership is more than hath been for these 300
years. It doth not answer to my charge of my stall, I mean not my table.”
Burghley to Wm. Herle, Aug. 14, 1585: Autograph, MSS. Domestic, Rolls
House.

3 D’Ewes’ Jowrnals, p. 43.
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Ely ; the present Hatton Garden, so named in memory
of the transaction.!

1 The reluctance of the Bishop to part with his property called out the
celebrated letter in which “ the Proud Prelate '’ was told that if he did not
inatantly comply with the Queen's wishes, “ by God she would unfrock
him.” The Bishop, still inclining to resist, was brought to reason by means
so instructive on Eljzabeth’s mode of conducting tysiness, when she had
not Burghley or Walsingham to keep her in order, that Lord North, the
person whom she employed, may tell the story in bfs own words. * This
last denial,” Lord North wrote to the Bishop, ‘ being added, my Lord, te
her former demands, hath moved her Highness to so great a misliking as
she purposes presently to send for you and hear what account you can
render for this strange dealing towards your gracious sovereign. Moreover, °
she determines to redress the infinite injuries which of long time you have
offered her subjects. For which purpose, to be plain with your lordship,
she has given me order to hearken to my neighbours’ griefs, and likewise to
prefer those complaints before her Majesty’s Privy Council, for that you
may be called to answer, and the parties satisfied. She has given orders
for your coming up, which I suppose you have already received, and withal,
you shall have a taste to judge how well she liketh your loving usage.

“Now to advise you, my Lord, I wish you from the bottom of my heart
to shake off the yoke of your stubbornness against her Majesty's desires, to
lay aside your stiffnecked determination and yield yourself to her known
clemency. She is our God on earth. If there \e perfection in flesh and
blood, undoubtedly it is in her Majesty; for sne is slow to revenge and
ready to forgive. And yet, my Lord, she is right King Henry, her father,
for if any strive with her, all the princes in Europe cannot mars her yield.
You will say to me, you are determined to leave your bishoprick in her
Majesty’s hands, to dispose thereof at her good pleasure, and I know that
you have so reported among your friends. Your wife has also counselled
you to be a Latimer, glorying, as it were, to stand against your natural
prince. My Lord, let not your wife's shallow experience carry you too far.
You see that to court you must come. The Prince’s good favour and grace
will be altered from you; your fnends will be strange. It will be no ease
for your age to travel in winter, and I know well how you are horsed and
manned for that purpose. It will be no pleasure for you to have her Maj-
esty and the Council know how: wretchedly you live, how extremely
eovetous, how great u grazier, how marvellous a dairyman, how rich a
farmer, how great an owner. It will not like you that the world know of
your decayed housee, of the lead and brick that ycu sell from them, of the
leases that you pull violently from many; of the copyholds you lawlessly
enter into, of the free lands which you wrongfully possess, of the tolls and
imposts which you raise, of God's good ministers which you causelessly
displace.

‘ All this I am to prove against you, and shall be most heartily sorry te
pat it in execution. Wherefore, if you love place, the preservation of your
eredit, and the continuance of her Majesty's favour, conform yourself and
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Without family ties, with no near relations, and
without friends save such as were loyal to her for
their country’s sake rather than her own, Elizabeth
concealed the dreariness of her life from herself, in the
society of these human playthings, who flattered her
faults and humoured her caprices. She was the more
thrown upon them because in her views of government
she stood equally alone, and among abler men scarcely
found one to sympathise with her. She appears in
history the Champion of the Reformation, the first
Protestant Sovereign in Europe ; but it was a position
into which she was driven forward in spite of herself,
and when she found herself there, it brought her
neither pride nor pleasure.

In her birth she was the symbol of the revolt from
the Papacy. She could not reconcile herself with
Rome without condemning the marriage from which
she sprung ; but her interest in Protestantism was lim-
ited to political independence. She mocked at Cecil
and “ his brothers in Christ.” She affected an interest
in the new doctrines, only when the Scots or the
Dutch were necessary to her, or when religion could
serve as an excuse to escape an unwelcome marriage.
When the Spanish Ambassador complained of the per-
secution of the Catholics, she answered that no Catho-
lic had suffered anything who acknowledged her as his

satisfy ker request, which, if you list to do, no doubt the Queen is so in-
clined to good as I trust she will not only forget what is past and spare
your journey, but also thankfully accept your doing herein. Thus all
things may be pacified, which I will gladly bring to pass. Her Majesty
shall receive pleasure, her servants preferment and some profit, and your-
self honour and long comfort. Your loving friend, R. NORTH.

* November 20, 1576."

Comment would be thrown away upon this letter. It is among the MSS.
:‘ Hatfleld, and endorsed by Burghley, to whom the Bishop probably sent
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lawful sovereign, and that in spiritual matters, she be-
lieved as they did.) Fanatics, Puritan or Papist, she
" despised with Erasmian heartiness. Under her brother
and sister she had witnessed the alternate fruits of the
supremacy of the two theological factions. She was
determined to hold them both under the law, which to
her had more true religion in it than cartloads of
creeds and articles. Puritanism drew its strength from
the people. The Popish priests were a regiment of the
Bishop of Rome. She would permit no authority in
England which did not centre in herself. The Church
. should be a department of the State, organised by Par-
liament and ruled by the national tribunals. The
moderates of both parties could meet and worship
under its ambiguous formulas. There should be no -
conventicles and no chapels, to be nurseries of sedition.
Zealots who could not be satisfied might pay a fine for
their precision, and have their sermons or their sacra-
ments at home.

She never ceased to hope that foreign princes would
see things as she saw them. To the intelligent latitu-
dinarian his principles appear so obviously reasonable
that he cannot understand why they are not univer-
sally accepted. Elizabeth desired only a general peace,
outward order and uniformity, with liberty to every
one to think in private as he pleased. What could any
man in his senses wish for more? So long as there
was no Inquisition, she could not see why the Calvin-
ists should refuse to hear mass. So long as their sub-
jects would conform to the established ritual, kings
might well be satisfied to leave opinion alone. It was

14 Me replicé que no castigaba & los Catholicos sino por no confesarla
por reyna: que en lo demas creya lo que ellos.” — Don Bernardino de Men-
doza a\ Rey, xvii. de Junio, 1578: M SS. Simancas.
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to this consummation that her foreign policy was always
directed. It was for this reason that she always re-
sisted the advice of Burghley and Walsingham to put
herself at the head of a Protestant League. Unwillingly
and at long intervals she had sent secret help to the
Prince of Orange and the Prince of Condé — not, how-
ever, to emancipate the Low Countries, or change the
dynasty of France, but only to prevent the triumph of
the spirit of the Council of Trent, and to bring Philip
and the House of Valois to extend over Europe a gov-
ernment analogous to her own.

Events were too strong for her. Her theory was
two centuries before its time ; and nations can only be
governed on principles with which they sympathise
themselves. Yet Elizabeth may be fairly credited with
a general rectitude of purpose; and for the immediate
purpose of keeping England quiet and preventing civil
war, she was acting prudently and successfully. She
could not forget that she was a sovereign of a divided
people, and that all her subjects, as long as they were
loyal, were entitled to have their prejudices respected.
The Anglo-Catholics and Catholics were still three-
quarters of the popnlatnon united in sympathy, united
in the hope of seeing the old creed restored in its ful-
ness, and as yet only differing in a point of order. All
alike were thriving under the peace and prospering
in their worldly comforts, while France and Flanders
were torn in pieces by civil war. If she had struck
openly into the quarrel, Germany would probably have
followed, and Romanism might perhaps have been
driven back behind the Alps and Pyrenees; but as, in
Joing so, she would have created the deepest resent-
me.t in England, the attempt might also have cost her
he, own throne, and she might have been herself more
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successful in provoking rebellion than Mary Stuart or
the emissaries of the Pope. Her first duty was to her
own people, and both for herself and England there
were protecting conditions which war would forfeit, but
which would hardly fail her as long as she remained at
peace. The massacre of St. Bartholomew had brought
France no nearer to Spain. Spain was reluctant as
ever to permit the Ghuises to interfere by force for
Mary Stuart. French politicians could not allow
Philip to invade and conquer England. Philip had
made an effort to cut the knot. Chapin Vitelli’s dag-
ger was to have disposed of. Elizabeth, and Mary Stuart
and the Duke of Norfolk were to have taken the crown
with Alva at their backs; but Norfolk’s head had
fallen, and Mary’s last friends at Edinburgh had been
hanged, and Philip had retraced his steps, had washed
his hands of his English friends, and was once more on
good terms with his sister-in-law. The Bull declar-
ing her deposed was ostentatiously and universally
ignored ; Charles IX. made a league with her in the
face of it ; the Spanish Council of State had denied its
validity ; and Elizabeth was entitled to believe that she
was still regarded by her brother ¢ vereigns as one of
themselves. Mary Stuart rev.ained her heir presamp-
tive ; the Catholics, both at home and abroad, were
allowed to look forward to her accession; and the
Qnueen judged rightly, that after so disastrous a failure,
both they and Philip would prefer to wait for a peace-
ful alteration by the order of inheritance, rather than
risk the chances of a fresh insurrection or an inter-
necine war. For the foreign Protestants she consid-
ered that she did enough by maintaining her own
position. While she remained upon the throne, Eng-
land was an asylum for the persecated of all nations, &
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meutral territory from which they could maintain the
struggle with their oppressors. If she refused to help
them herself, they found allies among her subjects.
English congregations contributed money. English
volunteers flocked to the standard of Condé and
Orange. English privateers threatened Spanish com-
merce, and threw supplies into Rochelle. The mere
existence of a powerful kingdom out of communion
with Rome was a continual obstruction to an ultra-
montane policy. In refusing to permit the succession to
be settled positively either for Mary Stuart or against
her, Elizabeth was accused of neglecting the interests
of the nation, and caring only for her own quiet.
Sometimes, in mockery, she would tell the Council that
she would come back after her death and see the
Queen of Scots making their heads fly. She advised
Hatton to buy no land and build no honses. When
she was gone, she said, there would be no living for
him in England.! A policy, however, could not have
been only selfish, which was attended with unceasing
risk to her own life. Every year that could be saved
to peace was so much gain to England ; and she per-
sisted in hoping that through weariness and necessity
the Catholic Powers would throw over the Council of
Trent, and allow Europe to be settled on some quiet
and moderate terms. How she worked in detail, how
uncertain, how vacillating, how false and unscrupulous
she could be when occasion tempted, has appeared
already and will appear more and more ; but her ob-
ject in itself was excellent, and those who pursue high
purposes though crooked ways, deserve better of man-
kind, on the whole, than those who pick their way in

1 The Queen of Scots to the Archbishop of Glasgow, August 4, 1574
Labanoff, Vol. 1V.
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blameless inanity, and if innocent of ill, are equally in-
nocent of good.

Five years now passed, to England precious years of
breathing-time. The storm continued to rage on the
Continent. The annals of England are almost a
blank ; and the leading incidents may be passed over
rapidly.

Charles IX., in consenting to the massacre of St.
Bartholomew, had said that if tried at all, it should be
universal. From fifty to sixty thousand human crea
tures had been murdered; but indignation created
heretics faster than the sword could destroy them.
The whole country beyond the Loire revolted, and the
civil war broke out fiercer than ever. Anjou was
driven from Rochelle after a fruitless four months’
siege, in which he lost «wenty thousand men ; and the
throne of Poland fa.ling vacant, and the Queen-mother
coveting it for her second son, the Court swung round.
Peace was patched up, leaving Catholics and. Hugue-_
nots as they stood before the massacre. Catharine
made advances again to the Prince of Orange and
Count Louis, and by their help she secured the election.
Anjou left France for his new kingdom, only to be
recalled to it a few months after by his brother’s death.
The sickly princes of the House of Valois followed
each other fast to the tomb. But the Queen-mother
continued to rule, and in her hatred of Spain stretched
out her hand to Orange, who, desperate of other help,
seemed inclined to let the past be past, and accept it,
bloodstained as it was. He had offered the sovereignty
of the States to Elizabeth. In possession of Holland
and Zealand, he had told her that she would be * head
of the religion’ and mistress of the seas. The rest
of the States would revolt from Spain and come to her
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devotion, and no enemy would dare to qnarrel with
ner. If she refused, they would not submit to the
Spaniards. They were prepared to die first, if necese
sary ; but he warned her fully that before they were
destroyed ¢ they would entangle the country with such
a devil as should root out thence the name of Span-
iards forever.” ¢ The French King was ready to help
them, and to the French King they would go.” !

The Prince was evidently desperate : the danger to
England of the annexation of the Provinces to France
was only one degree less than of their reconquest by
Alva; and to prevent the States from taking any wild
step, which could not be retraced, she sent Orange
money for his immediate necessities, and an attempt
was made among the more moderate of the Europea:
powers to compel Philip to grant the Provinces reason-
able terms. After a communication between Walsing-
ham and Maximilian, deputies met informally at Speyx
in the autumn of 1573, from England, Switzerland,
and the German States, to draw up the conditions of
a league, — a league which was to be neither Catholic
nor Protestant, but composed of men of all creeds,
who would combine to resist oppression. The con-
tracting parties were to disclaim all intention of med-
dling with religion. They quarrelled with no faith,
Doctrines and forms of worship were left indifferent.
The object of the confederation was to enforce justice,
order, liberty of conscience, and the common rights of
humanity.?

1 Mr. Herle and the Prince of Orange, June 11, 1573: MS88S. Flanders,
2 Confederacion entre los Reyes, Duques, Principes, Villa libres, Res-
publicas y Sefiorias de Alemannia, Inglaterra, Escocia, Suycos y Flandes,
assi de una como de otra Religion, pare opponerse a la tyrannia de algunos
wemigos de piedad y virtud. — Hecha en Espira, a xv. de Octubre, 15783

s Teulot, Vol. V.
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The project never passed beyond an outline. Dog-
wmatism was more sacred than humanity. Lutherans
and Calvinists could not act together, far less could
Protestants and Catholics. But it breathes the very
spirit of Elizabeth. And that such a thing should
have been tried at all shows that even in the sixteenth
century there were minds which theology had failed to
calcine.

Orange, meanwhile, was left to struggle on with
such help as volunteers could give him. On the 12th
of July, 1573, the town of Haarlem surrendered to
Alva. The siege had cost him twelve thousand of his
troops, but as he had found severity hitherto useless,
he determined to make Haarlem an example of what
he called clemency. The garrison, consisting chiefly
of English, French, and Scots, was put to the sword.
A few of the principal citizens were selected for exe-
cution ; but the town was not, like Mechlin, given over
to pillage, and private property was generally spared,
T'he Duke then moved on Alkmaar, hoping that it
would open its gates. But Alkmaar was obstinate
as Hdarlem had been. He tried one desperate assault,
but failed, and it appeared clear to him that he would
have to conquer the two Provinces inch by inch. One
town had already cost him an army recruited with
enormous difficulty from Italy and Spain. Holland
and Zealand formed a great intrenched camp, inter-
sected by dykes, canals, and rivers. The sea was open
behind, and as long as Protestant Europe, as long
especially as England, continued to throw in men and
powder, the problem appeared a hopeless one.

The natural remedy would have been to hold Eliza-
beth responsible for the acts of her subjects, and to
threaten her with war unless she checked them. She
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had herself given further provocation. In the spring
of 1571, when the Spanish Ambassador had been dis-
covered to be a party to the Norfolk conspiracy, a hint
was given to the western privateers, and a young ad-
venturer sailed out of Plymouth harbour, more enter-
prising and more audacious than the dreaded Hawkins
himself. In the last disastrous expedition, many
English sailors were left prisoners in the hands of the
Spaniards. Most of them had been released by Haw-
kins’ ingenuity, but some had been left in Mexico, to
be burnt by the Inquisition. Francis Drake set out
to revenge his comrades. He spent the summer in
the West Indies burning, killing, and taking prizes.!
Then putting himself in communication with escaped
negro slaves in the woods at Panama, he landed and
intercepted the mules which were bringing the gold
and silver over the isthmus. He secured an enormous
booty, sufficient to tempt half the pirates in the world
to the Spanish main, and returned safe with it to
England, fortune so standing his friend that he caught
another gold ship on his way home, which was also of
immense value? Elizabeth was personally compro-
mised ; and this time she showed no desire to evade
her responsibility. She was known to have had shares
in the adventure. Drake presented her with a negro
slave whom he had taken in a house at Carthagena.
She showed him publicly at court as a curiosity. A
priest, implicated in some recent treason, was executed
about the same time in London, with the usual cruel-

1 At Nombre de Dios he killed eighteen Spaniards and cut out and car-
ried off a loaded gallecs «>.ch was lying in the harbour. — Memoria que
ha dado el Consejo de las Indias de los robos hechos en ellas por Ingleses,

1673: M 88. Bimancas.
8 Protest of Antonio y Guaras to Elizabeth, 1573: M8S. Simancas.
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ties;? while she continued to harass Philip with
demands for the expulsion of the English refugees from
Flanders, which had been promised in the provisional
treaty. Out of such a condition of things, it appeared
as if only war could follow ; but Alva, who, unlike
the Catholics generally, had formed a high estimation
of Elizabeth’s power, preferred any humiliation to
driving her into an alliance with Orange. He con-
sidered Drake’s performance a fair equivalent for the
Ridolfi conspiracy. So far from advising Philip to
demand reparation of his sister-in-law, he saw in it
only a further motive for seeking a close alliance with
her. ¢ If your Majesty had listened to me,” he said,
“if you had not trusted Chapin Vitelli, and had
attended to the considerations which I placed before
you, these present difficulties would not have arisen.
It is now of the highest importance to show Europe
that there will be no war between England and Spain.” 2

Even the question of the volunteers the Duke was
not inclined to press upon Elizabeth. She had re-
called Sir Humfrey Gilbert, the only officer who held
a commission from herself. With the rest he discov-
ered for himself a more successful method of dealing.
England was swarming with adventurers of no particu-
lar creed, careless whom they served, so they served
their own interests. Some hundreds of these made
advances to Alva through Antonio de Guaras, the
Spanish factor in London. Alva directed them to offer
their swords to the Prince of Orange, obtain employ-
ment with the garrison at Flushing, and either betray

1 Martyrio hecho en persona de un Catholico en Inglaterra, Junio 19
1573. 1In the hand of de Guaras: MSS. Simancas.

2 Alva to Philip, July 7. Compare Philip to Alva, July 8; Alva to
Secretary Cayas, July 8; Cayas to Alva, July 17. — Correspondence of
Philip 11: Gachard.
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the town or burn the Dutch fleet.! The plot was re
vealed to Cecil and defeated : but others followed.
Spanish gold was used and promised freely. Colone.
Chester, an English officer in Walcheren, undertook,
for 30,000 crowns, to introduce the Spaniards into
the island.? Two others, Captain Poole and Captain
Ralph Hasleby, proposed to kill or carry off Orange;$
and Hasleby actually tried it. Another scoundrel, a
Captain Wingham, sought a situation in the Prince’s
household with the same purpose. Then two more, a
Captain Ellice and a Colonel Balfour, were found en-

ed in the same trade.# And at length the Prince,
gag
shocked and frightened at the treachery which sur-
rounded him, and unable to distinguish friend from foe,
was obliged to dismiss all the English companies and
send them home. The irritation caused by a measure
80 necessary, yet so painful, was followed by fresh dif-
ferences, tending further to alienate England from the
Prince’s cause.

Alva, at his own request, was now recalled. He

1 The story of the negotiation is at Simancas, in the hand, I think, of
Don Guerau de Espes, the late ambassador, who was then at Paris:
Compare Ralph Lane to Cecil, May, 1573: MSS. Flanders.

2 Antonio de Guaras to Philip, 1573: MS8S. Simancas.

3 “ El Capitan Poole y Ralph Haselby, en tiempo del Duque de Alva,
habian offrecido de entregar vivo el de Orange o matarle.”” — Puntoe de
cartas de Antonio de Guaras, 1574: M SS. Simancas.

4In August, 1574, De Guaras writes: “ Hasleby and Chester have
returned to England. It is arranged that Captain Ellice and Colonel Bal-
four ehall follow the Prince to Delft or Rotterdam, and there take or kill
him. They hope they may get possession of one or other of these towns.
If they kill the Prince, and also obtain a town for us, they expect 20,000
crowns for the colonels, as much more for each of the captains, and a fur-
ther sum for the men. If they take the town, but miss the Prince, they
will be content with 15,000 crowns among them all. If they secure the
Prince without the town, they expect 20,000, the colonels to have in addi-
tion a pension of a thousand crowns, and the captains one of three hun-
dred. The agreement is to be drawn up in writing. Ellice says he has

been long in the Prince’s service, and hates him."”
VOL. XL 3
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returned to Spain leaving behind him an eternal mem-
ory of infamy because he had not succeeded. Those
who attempt to extinguish a revolution in blood play
for a high stake. If they win, their cruelties pass in
history as the necessary severities of a wise and cour-
ageous rule. If they fail, they are ministers of Satan,
to be forever execrated and abhorred. Yet the dif-
ference, after all, may be only in the intellectual appre-
ciation of the circumstances ; and if the honour is de-
served in the one case, the shame may be unmerited in
the other. Alva was conscious of nothing but that he
had tried to do his duty to his master. It had proved
too hard for him, and he gladly relinquished it to
another.

There was now to be an attempt at milder treatment.
His successor, Don Louis de Requescens, Grand Com-
mander of Castile, brought with him an offer of peace:
peace upon terms short of the absolute submission de-
manded by Alva, with a saving to the Provinces of
their old rights of self-government, on condition of re-
union with the Church. This point conceded, and the
mass restored in the churches, the Spanish army would
be withdrawn, and the States would be governed, as
before the revolt, under their own laws, administered
by their own countrymen. To the common sense of
Europe it seemed a fair proposal — a concession to the
temper which had been shewn in the meeting at Speyr.
The reéstablishment of the Catholic religion did not
imply persecution. Unsupported by foreign troops the
Bishops would have been powerless for anything save
the maintenance of external order. The chapels of
‘he Calvinists would have been closed, but private
opinion would have remained unenquired into, and the
Protestants of Holland and Flanders would have been
a the same position as the Catholics in England.
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English practical understanding decided at once that
these offers ought to have been thankfully received.
The Queen, who allowed no * liberty of worship "’ her-
self, could not consistently demand it for others, even
if she had thought that it could be prudently granted;
and when the Prince and the States sternly refused,
they were considered to be offering gratuitous obsta-
eles to the settlement of Earope. The English Catho-
lics came forward in numbers, makmg contributions for
Requescens or taking service in the Spanish army.!
Trade had reopened under Alva’s treaty, between
London and Antwerp; the Flushingers insisted on a
right of search lest munitions of war should be carried
to the enemy ; and ugly quarrels rose in consequence.
The channel privateers, not being particular about
creeds, plundered Dutch merchar.timen.? Vessels from
Holland were robbed even at the quay at Sandwich, and
no redress could be had. The interference of England
on behalf of the States was made more impossible than
ever.

Nor was this the worst, In the spring of 1574 the

1 % Muchos gentilhombres, soldados y marineros, y otros de nuestro pays,
ha pocos dias que viniéron & esta tierra para ofrecer su servicio al Rey
eontra sus rebeldes; y viendo que cada dis llegan aqui tanto numero de
Catholicos de nuestra pacion para servir al Rey, he hecho quanto be

ido que su Excellencia formase un regimiento de Ingleses Catholicos.”’—
lacion de M. de Copley, 1574: M 88. Simancas.

8 Here for instance is one case out of eleven reported September 7, 1573:
“ Cornelius Williamson, of Dort, sailing out of Yarmouth, was boarded
and utterly spoiled. The mariners of the said ship were most cruelly
handled ; and being tied with ropes were cast into the sea and greatly tor-
mented for to know whether they had money. They hanged up the said
Corralius with a rope about his neck until he was almost dead, and when
he was came to his wits, they stripped him all naked and cast him eight times
tied with a rope and with stonea at his legs eighteen or twenty feet deep in the
sea till they knew where his money was, and so took his money and of his
mariners with all their gear, and the anchors, cables, and victuals of the
said ship, and left the maste” wholly naked.” — MS88S. Flanders.
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Prince of Orange and his two brothers, Count Louis
and Count Henry, collected an army of Huguenots in
France, with the connivance of Catherine de Medici,
crossed the Meuse, and were making their way towards
Zealand, when they were intercepted at Mook Heath
and forced into an engagement by Don Sancho d’Avila.
The sea was the friend of the Hollanders, the land was
their enemies’. Their entire force was destroyed, and
Louis and Henry were killed.?

Requescens, snatching the opportunity, published an
amnesty, from which fourteen names only were ex-
cepted. He invited the Provinces to reflect upon the
favourable disposition of his sovereign, and to take ad-
vantage of offers which might not be within their reack
again. Out of the seventeen States only two were pro
longing the revolt. For the sake of Holland and Zea
land, the great commercial cities of Flanders and Bra-
bant had to submit to a prolonged military occupation,
to see their laws suspended, their trade ruined, and
their industry paralyzed by taxation. Broken-hearted
by his'last misfortune, and utterly dispirited, the Prince
now felt that the end was probably near, and that
nothing would be soon left to him but to follow Count
Louis to the grave. * Our people,” he wrote to his
one remaining brother, Count John, ¢ have now lost
all heart; and if the.enemy invade us, he will find
slight resistance. Our destruction will be the destruc-
tion of the religion throughout the world. The turn
of the Germans will come, and thé turn of the English
also, whoy in imagined prudence, have temporized and
waited upon events.? If you can think of anything,

1 Battle of Mook Heath, April 14, 1574. °

34 Les Allemans se pourront avec le temps bien appercevoir le domage,
wmme auegy feront les Angloys, qui s'attendans aux événements et issus

4e noz affaires ont, comme ils estimoient par grande prudence humaine,
wonsjoyrs voulu temporiser.”
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do it. I am myself so overwhelmed with business, and
so stupefied with sorrow, that I am equal to little more.
I undertook to hold these States for two years, single-
handed, against all the force which Spain could bring
against us. Those years are expired ; and if we are to
stand longer, we must have assistance. If it cannot be,
and if we must needs perish, in the name of God be it
s0. They cannot take from us the honour of having
done what so small a handful of men never did before.
We have held this little spot of ground unfriended, and
we have kept our consciences undefiled. God is all
powerful, and I trust we may yet be preserved. At
worst, it shall cost the Catholic, King half Spain and
haif his subjects, ere he make a final end of us.” ! This
letter fell into the hands of Requescens, and was sent
by him to England as an evidence of the condition to
which the Prince was reduced. The two years’ treaty
being at the same time almost expired, he intimated
that if Elizabeth would interfere no further, his master
was willing to do what till now he had always refused,
and renew the old league which Charles V. had made
with her father. What was she to do? If the Prince
would but have accepted the terms which Philip of-
fered, all would have been well. With the nobler as-
pect of Protestantism, with its deep, passionate loathing
of falsehood, — loathing intense as that with which the
first Christians shook themselves free of the heathen
idolatry, — with this she had no kind of sympathy.
She did not understand what it meant. But the States,
however desperate their situation, intended to fight to
the death; and when crushed, they would require to
be held down by force. A Spanish army would con-
tinue to be a dangerous neighbour ; Spanish fleets would
1 The Prince of Orange to Count John, May 7: 3{/SS. Flanders.
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lie in the Scheldt ; and the Dutch, having lost all they
valued, might have no objection to assist in an enter-
prise against England. Spain might consent, at pres-
ent, to the league ; but while the difference of religion
continued, wise men were of opinion that the alliance
could not be permanent. England’s turn, as the
Prince said, must and would come at last. Meanwhile
the sea towns were untaken; the two Provinces were
at Elizabeth’s disposition if she would have them ; with
the certainty, at the same time, of a sharp and severe
war, and the possibility of an insurrection at home.
The parties into which England was divided were both
represented in the Council. Walsingham
and Leicester were for joining the Prince ; but
Burghley and Bacon, who had hitherto acted with them,
threw their powerful weight into the other scale. Don
Pedro de Valdez was coming with an armada from
Cadiz to assist Requescens. Walsingham would have
had him set upon and destroyed in the Channel.
Burghley thought that with division at home, and with
Ireland so vulnerable behind them, the risk was too
great to be ventured. If the Prince threw himself as
he threatened upon France, even Burghley considered
that it would be even better to join Philip actively,
and assist in the reduction of the Provinces. England
would thus earn a right to a voice in the conclusion,
and secure the Hollanders some kind of terms.! The
Spanish trade was of great importance; and a fresh in-

August,

1 ¢F] gran Tesorero y el gran Chanciller respondiéron 4 sus compaiieros
del Consejo que si 1a Reyna se pusiese en ello, que con buena causa el Rey
de Espafia les ponria cisma y fuego en su reyno por Irlanda, y que no eran
de parecer de tal acceptacion; y que en caso que & Franceses se entregase
el de Orange que lo estorbarian por lo que tocaba 4 Inglaterra en favor dej
Rey de Espafia.” — Antonio de Guaras 4 Cayas, 256 de Agosto, 1574
MS8. Simancas.
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terruption of it would lead to serious discontent in Lon-
don. For Spain to consent, in defiance of the Pope,
to a closer alliance with an excommunicated sovereign,
would be a significant fact which would have its weight
with the English Catholics ; and the nation generally
had not yet come to look on Spaniards as enemies.
The old conneetion was still far more popular than the
new friendship with France ; and even with the Prot-
estants the horrors of St. Bartholomew had eclipeed
the doings of the Blood Council. Philip, it was said
in London, never made an unjust war. Philip was
true in word and deed, and in his severities respected
the usages of humanity.! The Spanish party carried
the day. De Valdez passed up-the Channel unmolest-
ed to give Orange what every one expected must be
his final blow; while Don Bernardino de Mendoza,
Philip’s master of the horse, came across from Brussels
with a complimentary letter to Elizabeth, bringing with
him also, in evidence of his master’s sincerity, several
hundred Englishmen who had been taken prisoners in
Holland.

Nor was this all. The King had consented, at Alva’s
entreaty, that the Catholic refugees should be forbid-
den to remain in his dominions. The condition, so
long evaded, was now actually enforced. The Earl of
Westmoreland, the Countess of Northumberland, the
Nortons, and the other waifs and strays from the rebel-

1 La Mothe-Fénelon says it was argued in the English Council, “ Qu'il
e s'estoit veu ni ne se voyoit rien au Roy d’Repaigne pour quoy Ia Royne
leur Mestresse deubt rejetter son amitié, ny luy denier la sienne, puisqu’il
Ia venoit rechercher. Car il s’estoit tousjours monstré prince veritable et
certain, plein de grande moderation et d’integrité; qui n’avoit poinct meu
de guerres injustes ni qui ne feussent necessaires et n'avoit usé en icelles
ni fraude ni mauvaise foy ni exercé aul:uns actes cruels qui feussent hors

du debvoir de la guerre ni contre les termes de la justiop.” — Dépéches, Vol
VYL p. 917, &e
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lion of 1569, were informed that they must seck an
asylum elsewhere. A seminary of English Priests
which had been established at Douay, was broken up
by Requescens, to be received in France by the Duke
of Guise, and provided with a new home at Rheims.
Weary of ineffectual intrigues which had ended only in
increased severities to the Catholics whom they had
wished to befriend, the Spanish Council had resolved,
at least for the present, to turn their backs upon Eng-
lish conspirators, and relinquish the hope of recovering
England to the Church by revolution.! ¢ Amazed,”
“incredulous,” the refugees struggled against their
fate. They petitioned the Pope to publish a construc-
tion of the Bull of Deposition, which would implicate
any Catholic Prince who made a treaty with Elizabeth,
and would make rebellion an obligation of faith to the
Catholics remaining in England.?

1 Spanish lay statesmen looked on these clerical incendiaries as coldly
a8 Charles V. had looked on Pole. Secretary Aguilon, writing from Paris
to Cayas, says: —

“Yo no se porque no cierran alld las puertas 4 todos los Ingleses, Es-
ococeses y Irlandeses que van con invenciones. Pues es cosa llana que el
dia que su Magd pensasre emprender contra alguna de aquellas provincias,
le romperian abiertamente Franceses la guerra, juntandose con los otros;
porque ni 4 ellos les esta bien que sn Magd tenga pié en ellas ni su Maga
que ellos, y entretanto no sirven las idas y venidas de los susodichos sino
hacer mas dafio 4 la pobre Reyns. do Escocia y 4 los Catholicos. Por mala
que sea la Revna de Inglaterra, estando las cosas de Flandes como estan,
conviene temporizar con ella, y aun diré mas adelante que despues de
estar pacificos aquellos estadon les estard siempre bien el amistad y corre-
spondencia de Inglaterra. Pues se ha visto el dafio que haberla perdido
les ha resultado. — Aguilon & Cayas, 5 de Maio, 1575: Teulet, Vol. V.

Whatever may br; thought of the chivalry of Elizabeth's conduct to
Orange, language of this kind shows that she was no dupe to false pre-
tences, and that in her unwillingness to precipitate a war she had real
ground to go upon. The Spaniards were sincerely anxious to remain at
peace with her. if the Pope and the priests would let them alone.

2 * Sentencia excommunicationis sive interdicti: Vis ea est. Primum
quod nvlli Christiano cum iis populis neque conversari neque commercig
nabers licet contra quos ea lata est.- Deinde quod subditi principum eorums
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Gregory, however, was too well advised. He could
not afford, for the sake of a handful of passionate fanat-
ics, to embroil himself both with France and Spain ;
and Sanders and Allen, and Parsons and the Arch-
bishop of Cashel, and the noble lords and ladies of the
North, whose fault was fidelity to the cause of which
Philip was the European champion, were dismissed
over the frontiers at the request of the heretic Eliza~
beth, and requested to return no more. It was a hard
measure, yet at once a political triumph to the English
Government of inmense moment, and in 1tself not un-
deserved. The object which these people had set be
fore themselves, had been to kindle a war of religion,
and to carry fire and sword through the country which
claimed their allegiance. They had flooded Europe
with libels, ¢ in which Medea was made a saint,” and
the spotted garments of the Queen of Scots had been
hung upon Elizabeth. The English Reformation was
represented as a monstrous product of lust and tyranny
and spoliation, and Cromwell, Cranmer, Isurghley,
every statesman and thinker whom Protestant England
had produced, were held up as panders to the wicked-
ness of Henry VIII., and his bastard daughter. Eliza-
beth insisted that Philip should set a mark of disap-
proval on them, and Philip yielded.

As a set off Mendoza invited Elizabeth to recon-
sider her secession from the Church, and her answer
was not positively unfavourable. Present change she

contra quos ea lata est liberantur in posteram ab omni obedienti fide offi-
cio jurigjurandi religione qui antea tenebantur, neque deinceps possunt
solum, sed etiam debent, contra eosdem ferre arma ut contumaces tan-
qnam hereticos schismaticos rebelles Deo ipsi invisos trucidare vastare
deripere ferro flamma furca coercere omni denique ratione de ird deflexor
n viam reducere. Fiat. Fiat. Amen. — Copia de la sentencia de ex
<omunion que pidiéron los Catholicos de Inglaterra. 1514: JISS. Siman-
cas.
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#said was impossible, out she gave him hopes that she
would consider about it at a more favourable moment.
The commercial differences were settled. The ships
and cargoes seized on both sides had been long sold,
but the accounts were produced and balanced, and
the Spanish treasure, the original ground of quarrel,
was allowed for in the general estimate. One ques-
tion only was left open, which Philip reserved for his
own special consideration, on what terms English fac-
tors and merchant ships were to be allowed to make
use of Spanish port towns and harbours. The Holy
Office claimed absolute authority in Spanish waters,
and forbade ¢ the accursed thing” within gunshot of
their shores. English seamen who had had Prayer-
books on board with them, had been imprisoned in
the Inquisition dungeons, and their vessels and car-
goes confiscated. The Queen insisted that the deck
of an English ship was English soil. I assure you,”
she said to De Guaras, “it is a thing my father would
not have borne, nor will I bear it, and unless your
King takes better order with these men, I must
imprison subjects of his in return.” ¢ Understand
me,” she continued, *you know the proverb — old
wine, old bread, and an old friend. The French say,
our reconciliation cannot stand. Let the King and me
prove their word false.”’? A special minister was sent
to Madrid, to insist on concession, and Sir Henry Cob-
ham, who had been dismissed from the Spanish
Court four years before with scanty courtesy, was
pointedly selected for the purpose.

Elizabeth, too, on her part, was ready to do whas
she could to gratify Philip, and she took the oppor-
tanity of showing him that the English for whom she

1 De Guaras to Cayas, Jan. 1575: M8S. Simanoas.
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demanded toleration, were not the heretics with whom
they were confounded. Among the fugitives from the
Provinces, who had taken refuge in England, was a
congregation of Anabaptists — wretches abhorred in
the eyes of all orthodox Anglicans. Twenty-seven of
therr were arrested in Aldgate, and brought to trial
for blasphemous opinions on the nature of

Christ’s body. Four of them ecarried faggots "~ >

at Paul's Cross, recanted, and were pardoned. Eleven
who were obstinate were condemned in the Bishop of
London’s eourt, and delivered over to the secular arm.
The incongruous element of Elizabeth’s Council would
have perhaps been split in pieces by an execution on
so large a scale. ¢ Great pains were taken ” to move
them. One more woman at last yielded. The rest
were banished, but enough had not been dome to
vindicate Anglican orthodoxy. One of the first four,
Hendrick Tenwort, had relapsed, and with another
of the remainder, John Wielmacher, was selected
for a sacrifice to the Spanish alliance. The sentence
was not carried out without protest. John Foxe the
martyrologist, who was occupied at the time on the
history of the Marian persecution, wrote to Elizabeth
to remonstrate.! He obtained a month’s reprieve to
give the unfortunate creatures time to abjure, but
they persevered in impenitence, and they were burnt
on the 22nd of July, “in great herrour, crying and
roaring.””3 The propositions for which they suffered,
with the counter propositions of the orthodox, have
passed away and become meaningless. The theology
of the Anabaptists may have been ridiculous, their

1414 unmn valde deprecor ne piras ac lammas Smithfieldianas, jam
diu faustissimis tuis auspiciis buc naqne sepitas, sings sunc recandescers.'’—
Foxe to Elizabeth: Soames, p. 316.

8 Stowe.
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theories of civil government mischievous; but they
were not punished in the service even of imagined
truth ; the friends of Spain about the Queen wished
only to show Philip that England was not the para-
dise of heresy which the world believed.

A high-born offender of the opposite kind had a
near escape at the same time, from the second edge of
Elizabeth’s sword of justice. The story is curious as
illustrating the character of many of the English adven-
turers, who were wandering on the Continent. Among
the refugees who were ordered to leave Flanders, was
a person named Edward Woodshawe, who took the
opportunity of writing to Lord Burghley to ask for
pardon and employment. Woodshawe was singularly
open in his account of himself. He had been twenty-
five years in the Low Countries ; at first in the house-
hold of Count Egmont, ¢ with whom he had lived in
all luxury.” On Egmout’s arrest, he went back to
England, ¢but neither his uncle Leveson, of Wol-
verhampton, his cousin Arden, of Park Hall, in War-
wickshire, nor any of his other relations would help
him with two angels.” ¢ He had been brought up
like a gentleman, seldom knowing what it was to lack
or want.” “ And therefore,” he said, ¢ with other
companions who were in straits as well as myself, I
was forced to give the onset, and break up a house
in Warwickshire, not far from Wakefield.”

With the twenty pounds which came to his share
from this transaction, he went again to Flanders, and
was employed by Alva, *whom he took God to
witness he loved as the devil in hell.” He prayed
Burghley to overlook his offences, and to give him an
opportunity of retrieving his character. ¢ Having long
*ollowed the wars,” he said, *“ and experimented this
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wavering world, what he took in hand he would do,
80 that no man in the world should know of his affairs,
Her Majesty, Lord Burghley, and himself, could under-
stand each other. Their secrets need go no further,”
and he ¢ protested before God, and swore by his holy
name on the damnation of his soul,” that he would
be true. He was intimate with Requescens, intimate
with Lord Westmoreland, Lord Morley, the Arch-
bishop of Cashel, the Nortons, and the priests who
had been at Dounay. If he could be of use in Spain,
Chapin Vitelli would introduce him to the king, and
he could obtain an appointment in the Palace.
 There,” he went on, “if you like to employ me,
I will obtain intelligence of all that goes forward, and
of any plot against England. T will deal as circum-
spectly, as wisely, as faithfully as I would crave at
God’s hands to receive my soul into his mercy. And
therefore, though®your hionour has no acquaintance with
me, yet mistrust me not. For, by the living God, if
your honour will cause to be made there in England, a
certain lingering poison, and send it hither by a trusty
messenger to me, not letting him know what it is, but
forge some other matter, and let me have command-
ment from your honour to whom I shall give it, and
therewith you shall try me what I am, for the service
of the Queen’s Majesty and my country. And doubt
not, but I will handle it secretly as reason requires for
my own safety ; what letters your honour writes to me,
I will tear them in pieces for fear of afterclaps, and I
trust your honour will do so by my letters.” .
The open cruelties of Philip II. have not stamedl !
his reputation so deeply as his employment of assas-' !
sins; the blackest spot in Alva’s scutcheon is his
1 Edward Woodshawe to Burghley, September 3, 1574: MSS. Flanderss
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recommendation of the murder of Elizabeth : but pub-
lic men rarely sink below the average of the morality
of their age. An English gentleman, honorably con-
nected, who had been in the service of the Viceroy of
the Netherlands, could write to the first minister of
his country, confessing to a burglary, offering to poison
hie friends who had given him shelter and wages, and
expecting to be admitted to the confidence of the
Queen herself.

Nor is this the strangest part of the story. Lord
Burghley condescended to make use of this man. He
did not send the poison, but he intimated that there
were other ways in which his correspondent might de-
serve his pardon for the affair at Wakefield; and with
this encouragement, Woodshawe wrote that he had a
dear friend in De la Motte, the Governor of Gravelines,
whom he described as a greedy ruffian, ¢ that two hun-
dred pounds would give courage to attempt anything :
with De la Motte’s help he proposed to surprise Calais,
which he had ascertained to be * carelessly guarded.”
Or failing this, he could betray his English comrades.

“For my other pretence,” he wrote, when the
Calais plan was abandoned, * if it please your honour to
send me your whole mind, whatever your honour com-
mand me to do, if I do it not secretly and effectually,
never trust man for my sake. What I have been,
God forgive me my folly ; but what I am, I pray God
give me grace that I may do that service to the Queen’s
Majesty and my country which my faithful heart is
villing to do.”?

The English Government had more than once shewn
the refugees that to escape from England was not
unecessarily to escape altogether. Story had been kid-

1 Woodshawe to Burghley, Novembar 30: MSS. Flanders.
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papped and hanged, the Earl of Northumberland had
been bought from the Scots and beheaded. The lesson
had produced some effect, but it needed to be repeated.
Lord Westmoreland had applied for pardon, and had
almost obtained it, when he fell back under the influ-
ence of the Countess of Northumberland, and was
again ‘‘practising” against the Queen. He bad
been attainted, and his life was forfeited. Cecil em-
ployed Woodshawe to entrap him, take him prisoner,
and bring him to London. The ingenious scoundrel
wound himself into the Earl’s favor, sending report of
his progress as he went along. When the Earl, with
the other exiles, were ordered finally out of Flanders,
Woodshawe advised him to go to Liége, and laid an
ambuscade for him on the way, intending, * by God’s
grace, to carry him dead or alive to England.”?

Fortunately for Burghley’s reputation, the plot failed.
Woodshawe disappears from history, and the Lord
Treasurer had to submit to the bumiliation of receiv-
ing advice from Leicester to have no further transac-
tions with persons of abandoned character? He could
have defended himself on the ground that Westmore-
land, being an attainted traitor, had no rights left him
in law or honour; but Philip, on the same plea,
might have defended the assassination of Orange.

To return to Sir Henry Cobham. The instructions
which he carried with him were not limited to English
interests. His first business was with the Inquisition.
If the Holy Office persisted in interfering with the
merchants, he was directed to say that * the amity
could not ¢ontinue.” The English were not heretics.
They merely * professed a difference ” in the observa-

1 Wovidhawo to Burghley, February 37 and March 13, 1575: MSS,
Plnnders.

8 Leicester to Burghley, March, 1575: MS8S. Haffield.
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tion of the rites and forms of the Church. The Queen
recommended her brother-in-law ¢ to be guided rather,’
in these questions, by such as were of noble birth
and temporal vocation, than by such as had their oaths
to the Church of Rome, and preferred the particular
affairs of the Pope before the service of the King.”
But beyond this which concerned herself, Elizabeth
went a step further. - A gleam of success had lighted

‘the fortunes of the gallant Orange on the arrival of De

Valdez. Requescens had attacked Leyden, and the
ever memorable defence of the city had ended in the
flight and ruin of the besieging army. Negotiations
for peace followed, but had been broken off on the old
point of toleration. The Queen, in her capacity of
mutual friend, now proposed to mediate. She made the
most of the offers which the States had pressed upon
herself. The King, she said, ought to be aware that
“in Christendom he had no such friend as she had
been.” The States were ready to return to their alle~
giance if they would have toleration on the terms of
the Peace of Passau, and Philip need not hesitate to
allow what had been allowed by his father. This one
concession would be sufficient; or if the Prince made
difficulties afterwards, ¢ she promised to join with the
King by force to compel the disobedient that should
impeach it.”” On the other hand, if the war was to

_continue, she said plainly that she would be driven

into some other course. She did not wish to injure
the King, but she could not, in the interests of
England, let the Netherlands be annexed to France,
and in default of help from her it was to France that
they would certainly turn.!

1 Heads of a message to the King of Spain, July 1, 1575. Instructions
to Sir H. Cobbam. Drawn by Walsingbam and signed by the Queea,
July: M88S. Spain.
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The weight of the message lay in the last paragraph.
A war of religion would not be tolerated in England,
but a war to prevent the aggrandisement of France
would be warmly popular. It was tkought that Philip
knew enough of English politics to comprehend the
distinction.

To the Spanish people generally the mission was
most unwelcome. The reception of a heretic minister
was in itself a scandal which had been overcome only
by a dispensation from the Pope.!l Cobham could
hardly find so much as a lodging at Madrid. The
King, in his first interview, was cold and ambiguous:
and the Nuncio, notwithstanding the Pope’s permission,
recommended, between advice and command, that the
Ambassador should be dismissed without a second
audience.? Elizabeth might be negotiated with at
Brussels, or an emissary might be sent to London, but
Madrid was the second city of the Catholic world.
Shocked at the dreadful presence of the accursed thing
among them, the Council even reopened the whole
question of the alliance. Hopper, President of the
Council for the Netherlands, admitted that Elizabeth
had grounds of complaint. Her life had been attempted,
and she knew it,3 but she was a schismatic, and no fit
ally for Spain. “The honour of God,” he argued,
¢ forbade ambiguous friendships. She had been at the
bottom of all the confusion in Europe. The rebels

14 Como el Santo Officio ha hecho muy complidamente, procurando
pata ello y para mayor seguridad de la iencia dissimuladamente el
consentimiento de la Santa Sede Apostolica.”” — Parecer de Hopperus,
Qctober, 1575: MSS. Simarcas.

2 A su Magd del Nuncio, 24 de Novbre 1576. Sobre echar de aqui &
Cobham: MS. Ibid.

8 “ Tanto mas habiendose ella offendido una vez por haber entendido
que se machinaba algo contra su personay Reyno.” — Parecer de Hop-

© perus: MS8. Ibid.

VOL. XI. 4
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were now at their last gasp, and his Majesty should
trust in God and finish the work.”

Quiroga, Archbishop of Toledo and Inquisitor-Gen-
eral, took the same view. ¢ The Queen of England,”
he said, *neither was nor ever could be an honest
friend of Spain. She was a tyrant, and had murdered
Catholics. She had revolutionised Scotland, and would
never cease to trouble the world. Her present over-
tures were deceit. She knew Chapin’s intentions
against her, and women and princes never forgave.” 1

Then Alva rose. Alva, with his experience of
Haarlem and Leyden, knew better the resources yet
remaining to the rebellion, and understood better also
the personal disposition of Elizabeth. ¢ Diplomacy was
not action,” he urged ; * and the alliance which he rec-
ommended need stand only as long as it was useful.
Convenience was the measure of obligation even be-
tween Christian States, far more, therefore, between a
Christian and a heretic.2 An English ambassador could
do no harm at Madrid, a Spanish ambassador in Lon-
don would have mass in his- house, would protect the
Catholics, and prevent persecution. The Queen was
well disposed to Spain. It was supremely important to
humour her inclinations, and prevent her from drawing
closer to France. In affairs of state, as in philosophy,
imagination was a powerful element. It was no ques-
tion of conscience, and the King could throw her over
when he pleased.”

1 «Y que en fin Dofia y Corona nunca perdona.” — Parecer de Quiroga:
M88. Simancas.

2 -‘Sjendo su intencion que dure mientras durara la necessidad como lo
hacen los Principes Christianos uno con otro, quanto mas con la Reyna
herege.”’ — Parecer de Alva: M S. Ibid.

8 +¢ Que los negocios de Estado se fundan en imaginacion como los filoe
pofos, y que pues es cosa temporal que la puede soltar quando quisiere.” =
Parccer de Alva: M8, Ibid.
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So construed the alliance was less alarming. Qui-
roga himseif was willing to make allowances. ¢ The
thing desired was not so bad but that it might be made
good by circumstances.” The English trade would no
doubt be useful, and implied diplomatic intercourse.
The difficulty lay in the details. Was an English am-
bassador at Madrid to be allowed to use a heretic ser-
vice? Was the Holy Office to see its authority im-
paired in the port towns ? '

Beaten on the main argument, President Hopper
stood out against concession in details. ¢ There were
men about the King,” he said, hitting at Alva, ¢ who
pretended that scruples were out of place in politics,”
“ that princes should look to interest, and leave theory
to philosophers and divines. This was a doctrine of
atheists and enemies of mankind. Politics should have
no foundation but the will of God, and what was not of
God was of the devil.”?

The King, inclining always to what he called piety,
was deeply perplexed. He was willing to carry out
what had been undertaken by Mendoza in England, but
he hesitated at the further step, and Alva was in de-
spair. Unless the Inquisition could be controlled, he
saw that the alliance would fall in pieces. The Queen
would take up the cause of the States, and Drake would
be let loose upon the gold fleets. * Cobham,” he wrote
to Secretary Cayas, * has just rushed into my room to
kill me. I have Cobham at one ear and Hopper at
the other, and between them both I am at my wits’
end. Hopper will ruin all. The Queen of England
will throw herself on France : the objection will be the
same as long as she lives, and Hopper is such an ob-
stinate ass that I can drive no conviction into his head.

1 Recuerdo de Hopperus: MSS. Simancas.
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The King knows what I think, and I shall say no more.
The Englishman is ready to tear me in pieces because
he and his mistress are called heretics.” 1

In still more passionate tones he complained of
Quiroga. ¢ The Inquisitor-General,” he said, has
no right to notice offences not committed on Spanish
soil, nor if the English do wrong while on shore should
he touch the property of any but the offenders them-
selves. I have argued with him, but he is as hard as
a stone,? and unless we yield in this we lose England,
and all will be over with Flanders. His Majesty, no
doubt, should respect the Holy Office, but it cannot be
right to play into the hands of God’s rebels and his own.
I beseech his Majesty with tears to listen to me. Without
this concession all else will be nothing. I will not give
up hope. I will snatch at every twig that offers.” 8

Between his various advisers, Philip was as uncer-
tain as Elizabeth. Alva recommended him to renew
his father’s old league, or make another special treaty,
to stand till the Low Countries were conquered. Philip
was afraid, on one side, of committing misprision of
heresy ; on the other, of adding England to his other
enemies. At length he gave Cobham in writing the
following answer. * He would send an ambassador to
London, and he would receive an Englishman at
Madrid, but only on these conditions. His own minis~
ter must have the sacraments of the Church, as a mat-
ter of course. As positively, no unauthorized service
could be permitted in Spain. The utmost indulgence
which would be extended to a foreign resident would
be that he should not be compelled to hear mass. It

1 Alva to Cayas, November, 1575.
3 “ Esta como una peiia duro.”
8 Alva to Cayas, November 25: M SS. Simanons.
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would be more agreeable to all parties, therefore, if the
person selected could be a Catholic, otherwise the
Queen must send some reasonable person well inclined
to the alliance. The offer of mediation he was obliged
to decline. If his insurgent subjects would submit un-
conditionally, he would receive them to mercy at her
Highness’s hands, but he would adventure all his estate,
rather than license any exercise of religion other than
the Catholic Roman. As to the merchants and sea-
men, strangers must observe the laws established by
the Inquisition, and if they offended must be punished
by the law. The religious administration was indepen-
dent of himself, and he was bound by his oath to
respect the privileges of the Inquisition.” 1

The principal matter was thus really left in the
Archbishop’s hands, and the lives and properties of
Englishmen were insecure as ever. Alva, however,
made a private arrangement with Cobham, for the ful-
filment of which, he said, he would be himself respon-
sible. Out of special regard for the Queen, the law
against heresy should be so far relaxed that no English
subject should be liable to arbitrary arrest and exami-
nation.? The English, in return, if they chose to enter
Spanish churches, must behave as others did. If they
encountered the Holy Sacrament in the streets they
must kneel, nor must they proselytize or introduce
. heretical books,

1 Answer to Sir H. Cobham, Nov. 1675: MSS. Simancas.

2 A marginal note shows that Quiroga had given a sort of consent bat
had refused to commit the Inquisition by a positive engagement. * Esto
fué conforme a lo que habia dicho el Inquisidor General que aunque todos
ivs eatrangeros que han hereticado fuera del Reyno son castigados por ello
se dissimularia con los Ingleses. Pero que no se les habia de decir que pro-
sedia de la Inquisition porque no lo tomasen por ley o permission, y asi se
pusé en papel a parte y se lo di6 al Duque de Alva.”” — Discurso del Duque
le Alva, 2 de Deciembre: MS. Ibid.
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‘With this reply, Cobham took his leave. It is need-
less to say that Alva’s engagement was not observed
by the Inquisitors, and the natural good-will between
the English and the Spaniards was changed to hatred
by the cruelties to which Elizabeth’s subjects were
still systematically exposed. But the utmost had been
done on both sides to prevent the disintegration of the
old alliance.

The King of Spain himself was really acting in good
faith. The exiles had fitted out a Catholic English
pirate fleet. Don John of Austria, their favourite can-
didate for the hand of the Queen of Scots, had given
them encouragement ; but Philip had been coldly un-
favourable.! Requescens’s army had received its chief
supplies from England, and when Orange threatened
to stop the trade between the Thames and Antwerp,
Elizabetb sent to tell him ¢ that she would not bear it
at his haads, and would sooner join her forces to those
of Spain,” to compel him to submit.? The French
Court, encouraged by the success at Leyden, was will-
ing to risk a war for the incorporation of the Provinces ;
Orange, desperate of help from England, was inclining
to agree ; while the States of Holland, dreading France
only one degree less than they dreaded Spain, hoped
that Elizabeth would take up their cause. They threw
themselves at her feet, imploring to be accepted as her

1 8ir Francis Englefield writes in cipher to Cotton, the pirate admiral:
“] am sorry and angry to see your service and diligence so ill requited by
them that are to receive the chief profit. I have written in all fidelity both
to Spain and Rome. From the first I have no answer; which shews their
little favour in whatever should cost them any penny. From the second 1
have answer, that the importance of your service is imparted to Don John
and the chief cardinals, and shall be followed to the uttermoust of their
small credit.” — M88S. Domestic. October, 1575.

8 Instructions to Daniel Rogers, June 8, 1576: MSS. Flanders.
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subjects, and professed to desire nothing so much as to
be annexed to the English crown.!

Cobham had not at that time returned ; it was un-
certain what answer he would receive ; and decision
was so difficult, that Burghley hesitated, and was dis-
posed to change his opinion for Walsingham’s.2 He
drew out, in his usual manner, the alternatives of the
situation.

Three possibilities only lay before the States. They
must either be conquered by Spain, or be assisted
either by England or by France. If they were con-
quered, they would be governed thenceforth by Span-
iards, and England ¢ would be neighboured by a nation,
which for religious and other quarrels, would take
advantage to subvert the Estate.” If they were sup-
ported by France, “they would be at the command-
ment of that crown,” *“and with their havens and
ships, France would control both England and Scotland,
and all the narrow seas.,”” The conclusion seemed
irresistible that England, whether she liked it or not,
must interfere, and either help the Prince of Orange
with money till the King of Spain would agree to tol-
eration, or ¢ receive the States on their own offers as
subjects to the crown.”3

Time was pressing. The Prince sent the Queen
word that * she had offers made her that, if she would
embrace them, her posterity would thank God for
her;” submit to Spain, however, they never would,
« for they feared a massacre of Paris;” and if she

1 Daniel Rogers, October 9: M SS8. Flanders.

2 ¢ Jf my ability were ] would gladly help the plough with vou in the
ridge or furrow, till the yoke was pulled off iny neck.” — Burghley to Wal-
gingham :© M 88. Domestic.

3 Coasideration of the difficulties that may or are likely to ensue upod
the not aiding and maintaining the Prince of Orange and Estates in Hol-
and. In Lord Burghley’'s hand, October 17, 1575: MSS. Flanders.
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refused, they would ‘“seek other aid.” It was ihe
dilemmma which Elizabeth had foreseen when she told
Philip that if he would not make peace, she must act
on her own judgment; she could not let the Provinces
become French. Had she been so disposed, she could
not move with decency till Cobham came ; she sent
again to Requescens, however, urging peace, and bid-
ding the messenger use his eyes and ascertain the
dimensions of the Spanish forces.! She wrote more
gently to Orange. She called herself the best real
friend that he possessed in Christendom. She wished
to help him, but a war with sach a power as Spain
was a serious consideration. She had sent a min-
ister to Philip, she said, and she had still hopes that
he would consent to a compromise. Meanwhile, she
asked for an account of his resources, and implied and
all but promised that if the King was obstinate she
would help him.2

Requescens, frightened at her attitude, dispatched
M. de Champagny 2 to protest, while St. Aldegonde,
the Prince’s most faithful friend, and two councillors,
Paul Buys and Francis Maldesen, came as commission-
ers from the States.

Their arrival in England was simultaneous with the
return of Cobham, whose report did not tend to clear
the situation. It was conciliatory on the whole, but-
the offered mediation was refused. Towards the
States there was no concession, and the lives and prop-
erties of English traders were still only secured by a
verbal promise of Alva. The Council sat day after

1 Instructions to Mr. Corbet, Oct. 21. Burghley’s hand: MSS. Flan.
ders.

3 Instructions to John Hastings sent to the Prince of Orange, Oct. 39
M8 1bid.
8 Brother of Cardinal Granville, and Governor of Antwerp.
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day unable to resolve. The heads of the guilds, with

the leading merchants and manufacturers, were called
in to assist in the consultation. Leicester, Walsing-
ham, Bedford, Knollys, Mildmay, and privately Burgh-
ley, were for accepting the offers of the States. The
men of the city, with the Spanish party among the
peers, were for peace and alliance with Philip. The
controller of the household, Sir James Crofts, insisted
that the Queen’s revenue sufficed barely for the ordi-
nary expenditure,and that taxation in a doubtful cause
~ould be resented by the country.! Elizabeth herself,
furious that the quiet of Europe should be sacrificed to
Protestant preciseness, was so vehement, that one day,
according to De Guaras, after a stormy discussion, she
flung out of the council chamber, and locked herself
into her room, crying out that the Council woulg de-
stroy her.?

The objections of the city were silenced by the oppor-
tune arrival of news from Cadiz, illustrating the value
of Alva’s engagements. A ship belonging to Sir Ed-
ward Osborne, one of the first merchants in London,
had been seized and condemned by the Inquisition.
The crew were in a dungeon at Seville, no offence be-
ing charged against them beyond the fact that they

1 Speech on the question of giving aid to the Prince of Orange in
French: MSS. Flanders, 1575. The translator attributes it to the Chan-
cellor. But there was no Chancellor in England at this time, the Great
Seal being held by 8ir Nicholas Bacon, as Lord Keeper. The person
wmeant must be the Controller Crofts, who is specified by De Guaras as
baving advocated the Spanish side. — Cartas de Antonio de Guaras, Dec.
31: MS8S. Simancas. .

2 “ He tenido aviso cierto de que hizé la Rey ,a demonstraciones con
mucho descontento y con muchas voces sobre que no era de parecer de
enviar fuercas declaradamente a Zelanda y Holanda, y se entré en su
aposcuto sola cerrandole, dando voces que por ello la ponian en perdicion.
Y los que alli estaban y sus damss las daban mayores diciendo que sino
abria que quebrarian la puerta, no pudiendo sufrir que estuviese sola con
squella pena.” — MS. Ibid.
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were heretics. If this was to be the order of things
peace was indeed impossible. Champagny was dis-
missed with a cold answer. St. Aldegonde was told
that one more remonstrance would be tried with Spain,
wd unless the Queen could obtain a formal promise
hat her people should be no more molested she would
‘receive the States into her protection.” She could
not declare war immediately. She must consult Par-
liament, and allow time to the merchants to call in their
ships. But she could send the Prince some money,
and would insist meanwhile on a suspension of arms.
If the Spanish Government refused redress, ¢ she would
have a more probable occasion in the sight of the
world to proceed to the open aiding of them.” !
Champagny before he retired demanded the arrest
or expulsion of St. Aldegonde in return for the ban-
ishment of the refugees. Elizabeth declined on the
ground that St. Aldegonde, being commissioned to her
by the States, was protected by his position. Cobham,
fresh from Madrid, was ordered to Brussels to tell
Requescens that peace must be made ¢ or her Majesty
would be forced for her own safety to put in execu-
tion some remedy for her relief that she would not will-
ingly yield unto,” 2 while Parliament was summoned
immediately to provide the necessary means.
Parliament made no difficulty. The States were
not spoken of by name, but a large subsidy was voted
for ¢ the defence of the realm.” The session promised

to pass off for once without unpleasantness, when a .

question burst out which produced an ill-timed exas-
peration, and flung the Queen into the worst of humours

1 Two answers to the Hollanders. In Walsingham’s hand and Burgh-
ley's, Jan. 15, 1576: M S8. Flanders.

2 Instructions to Sir H. Cobham, sent to the Commendator March
1576: MS. Ibid.
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with the Protestants and all belonging to them. She
ruled the pulpits of the Churches: she imagined that
she could do the same with the House of Commons;
and more than once she had intimated that she would
allow nothing to be discussed there affecting religion
where the initiative had not been taken by the Bishops.
On the same principle on which she prohibited Puri-
tan conventicles and forbade Catholics to preach in
public or say mass, she checked the tongues of the
Reformers in Parliament. While secular questions
were best resolved by debate, religious animosities she
always attempted to suffocate.

The Protestant members resented the interference
with their inherited liberty of debate, and the Queen
gave them an advantage by including subjects in her
prohibition immediately within the province of the
House. 'Wentworth, member for Tregony, rose to
complain * that not only were they forbidden to speak
of religion, but now they were to be silent on matters
touching the interests of every tradesman in the
realm.” “The customs duties were suspended in favor
of noblemen and courtiers; honest men were robbed
in thousands that three or four persons connected with
the palace might be enriched.: and yet Parliament was
expected to be silent. Either a rumour was spread
about the House that her Majesty was offended, or a
message would come down desiring that this or that
complaint should not be mentioned. He wished such
rumours and messages were buried with the father of
them in hell.”1

1 Speech of Mr. Wentworth, 18th of Elizabeth, D’Ewes’ Journals. An-
other passage in the speech curiously illustrates the growing bitterness
against the Bishops. ¢ Her Majesty,’ he said,  forbade us in the last see-

sion to deal with any matter of religion, but only what was laid before us
from the Bishops, and nothing was done, for God would not that His holy
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The times were too dangerous for loyal subjects to
quarrel with the Queen. The question raised was,
to say the least of it, unseasonable. If she granted
monopolies, she had governed with singular economy,
had rarely troubled her subjects for money, had restored
the currency, and punctually paid her father’s, brother’s,
and sister’s debts. Her credit stood so high that she
could borrow money at Antwerp at five per cent.,
when Philip could not borrow on any terms at all.}
Wentworth was stopped by the Speaker before he
could conclude his speech. He was Star-chambered,
and sent to meditate for a month in the Tower. He
then made his submission on his knees on the floor
of the House, and was pardoned “to the great con-
tentment of all present.” 2

In the conduct of the House the Queen had little
to complain of; but this small accident, combined with
other causes, occasioned one of those periodical fits of
ill humour, to which she was always liable, against the
Protestants. She had been dragged into encourag-
ing the States against her inclination: the - sudden
death of Requescens before Cobham could reach him
gave her an excuse for altering her mind, and having

Spirit should descend all that session on the Bishops. I have heard from
of old that the banishment of Pope and Popery, and the restoring of true
religion had their beginnings from this House and not from the Bishops.
I have heard that few laws for religion had their foundation from them.
I was one of others sent last Parliament to the Archbishop of Canterbury,
for the Articles of Religion then passed this House. He asked why we put
out of the book the Articles for the Homilies, consecrating Bishops, and
such like. °Sir,’ said I, ‘ we were 80 occupied with other matters we had
no time to examine them, how they agreed with the word of God.’ ‘You

- mistake,’ said he, ‘you will refer yourselves wholly to us therein.’ *No

by the faith I bear to God,’ said I, ‘ we will pass nothing before we
understand what it is — that were but to make you Popes. Make youw
Popes who list,’ said I. ¢ We will have none.’ ”
1 Edward Castelyn to W.lunglum, March ¢: MSS. Flanders.
$ D’Ewes’ Journals,
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determined not to send the help which her Parlia-
ment had given her the means of sending, she tried
to gain credit with Spain by making her refusal as
offensive as possible. After all her gracious promises,
St. Aldegonde and his companions were sent away
with an answer in writing that she would neither
assist the States herself nor permit them to seek help
from France. Her own agents had been entertained
always at the public cost in Holland. The emissa-
ries of the Prince of Orange were made to pay their
own expenses, and were hustled out of the country
with threats and insults.

As much surprised as mortified, they returned to
the Hague. Long as they had experienced the vacil-
lations of the strange woman whose friendship they
had sought so humbly, the suddenness of the last change
bewildered them.! '

Burghley sent them word that their rejection was no
act of his, that their cause should never want
such support as he could command. It was
hinted ‘“that her Majesty’s answer was but a manner
of connivance, which was necessary for the season ;”” but
they went away in profound indignation ; and the de-
spair of the States was only less than their exasperation.

1 % The poor men were in & marvellous passion for the answer they had
received, which they had the less expected at her Majesty's hands, whom
they had always accounted gracious and no tyrant. They had deserved
well, and were, therefore, unworthy of this uncourteous dealing and rejec-
tion, and thought it very hard if they being free men should be forbidden
to seek aid to preserve their lives. It would bring them by despair to fear
no evil, that they could not hope for any good. It would have sufficed,
shey said, without this aggravation, that they had spent here so much time,
and consumed great sums of money, that might have been better employed.
“hey had come over at her Majesty's invitation, and were sent away, not
«nly without thanks, but threatened also if they did not yield their own
throats to be cut.” — Wm. Herle to Burghley, March 23, 15676: M S&
Flanders.
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It was the darkest moment in the Prince’s fortunes.
The Spaniards, whose progress had not been checked
by the Viceroy’s death, had cut Holland in two. They
had taken the islands of Tholen, Duiveland, and
Schowen. Boisot, the hero of Leyden, was killed in
an attempt to save Zierichsee, and with the fall of
that town, Philip’s troops were again established upon
the sea. For want of the money, which Elizabeth had
first promised and then refused, the Dutch fleet was
dissolving.! The Anglo-Catholic buccaneers seized
ship after ship of the Dutch, and flang the crews into
the sea. The fierce Hollanders, in savage despair,
repaid cruelty with cruelty. The next step was a
general arrest of all Dutch vessels in English harbours,
and the Prince in retaliation seized the London mer-
chant fleet in the Scheldt, worth, it was said, £200,000.

Elizabeth, it is quite clear, again believed that the
States were about to be overwhelmed, and that her
most prudent course was now to assist in their over-
throw. She wrote a letter to the Prince, ¢ the like
of which,” he said, ‘““he had never received from
any in the world.” She sent Sir William Winter to
extricate the fleet by force or practice. She bade him
tell Orange not to think that'she needed his friendship ;
the King of Spain was on cordial terms with her; and
whether he was foe or friend, she could defend her
own shores ; if the ships were not released, she would
make open war upon the States.?

They were surrendered instantly, with an apology

1 «The Prince has engaged to pay his mariners in confidence of the sum
promised. If he is frustrate his force is lost. He begs her Majesty to
consider it is but a bare loan, and all Holland and Zealand are bound for
it. His extremity is such that he must be ed or he is undone.” -
M. de G..to Walsingham, from Flushing, August 30: M88. Flanders.

3 M8. Ibid., May and June, 1576.




1578, The Reign of Elizabeth. 68

to Winter, but the Queen was not satisfied. She said
she had been insulted. Her honour was compromised.
She thought of seizing Flushing, to hold as a pawn, in
the coming settlement with Spain.

It was at this time, and probably under the weight
of this last blow, that the Prince meditated embarking
with as many of the inhabitants of the States as their
ships would carry, and migrating to a new home
beyond the Atlantic. ¢ He was greatly amazed when
he understood assuredly that her Majesty would be
avenged of him by way of arms. Although necessity
might have induced him to forget some part of his duty
towards her Majesty, yet his state and condition was
rather to be pitied and tendered with compassion,
than persecuted with hatred, especially on a Christian
Prince’s part.””* Never, however, was Prince, either
Christian or heathen, less open than Elizabeth
to sentimental considerations. She was med-
itating a complete reversal of policy, which, if begun,
could hardly stop short of reunion with Rome. Warn-
ings were not wanting, but the tone in which they were
made showed how real was the danger. ¢ Her Majes-
ty,” wrote some one, who was most likely Walsingham,
¢ considers lierself forced, in respect of her honour, to
enter into action against the Prince of Orange. The
Prince has been a bridle to Spain hitherto, and kept
war out of our own gate. If Spain assail him now by
land, and the Queen of England by sea, he must fall,
and what can her Majesty look for but such mischief
as Spanish malice can yield ? Spain will then assist
France to put down the religion. The number of mal-
contents at home is increased, and if the King of Spain
attack England he will find so great a party within the

1 M. de G. to Walsingham, August 30: MSS. Flanders.
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realm as is grievous to a good subject to think of.
There are but three possible courses — tp maintain the
Prince of Orange and the Huguenots, to seek reconcil-
iation with Spain, and for her Majesty to settle her
estate at home. To the first, men are now unwilling
to move her, for that her Majesty has with very
bitter speeches repaid those that first advised her to
assist the Protestants, and thinks it against her con-
science to waintain rebels. In reality that advice
deserved rather praise than blame. The Prince of
Orange is her soundest friend. The King of Spain
daily consumes her Majesty’s subjects by fire, and
confiscates their goods. Such of her subjects as are
loyal, would all have her support the Prince. Those
who make a conscience of maintaining rebels are them-
selves rebels in heart, and will become disaffected when
time shall serve. Reconciliation with Spain it is un-
likely can ever be. If religion were the only impedi-
ment, then, perhaps, it was likely reconciliation might
- follow by changing religion; but thoucrh in outward
show religion shall be the pretext, the crown shall be
the mark which no change of religion can save. The
repose which her Majesty has hitherto enjoyed has
wholly depended on the Princes her neighbours’
troubles at home. These troubles will not long con-
tinue. She must look to the peril out of hand, which
can neither abide long delay of consultation, nor stay
in execution of that which may tend to the prevention
thereof.” 1

To understand the meaning of Elizabeth’s present
attitude, we must turn to her relations with another
country. Charles IX. and his brother, who had just

1 A brief discourse laying forth the uncertainty of her Majesty's present
poace and quietuess. Abridged. August, 1576: M SS. Domests.
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succeeded him as Henry III, had been successively
suitors for her hand. The negotiation which fell to
the ground with the massacre of St. Bartholomew,
was revived afterwards in behalf of the third brother,
Francis of Alengon, a pock-marked, unhealthy dwarf.
Catherine de Medici, it will be recollected, when the
religious objections were raised by Anjou, hinted
that she had another son, from whom no such difhi-
culty need be anticipated. Alengon, in the terrors
which followed the massacre, had thought of flying for
refuge to England. He had friends about the court;
and when the danger passed off, the Queen-mother,
who believed that sooner or later Elizabeth would be
compelled to marry, held his pretensions continually
before her eyes. La Mothe Fénelon was recalled.
His place at the English Court was taken by Castelnau
de Mauvissiére, a politician of the middle and moderate
party, who had no love for the Pope, hated the Guises
and Spain, regarded the English alliance as a guaran-
tee for the quiet of France, and looked on a marriage
between Alengon and the Queen as the sure means of
making the alliance permanent.

The position of heirs presumptive was always uneasy,
and Alengon’s, when his brother came to the throne,
was no exception. ‘ Monsieur,” as he was now called,
was detained at court with Henry of Navarre, both
of them essentially prisoners. The King was jealous of
him, and the Guises, who aspired to supersede the
house of Valois, inflamed the ill feeling, But for his
mother, it was thought that means would have been
found to rid Alengon out of the world! The peace

1 % There have been many practices against Monsieur by the Guises,
whereby the King has been in many passions against his brother, and has
been sometimes advised to use all severity against him; and if it had not
been for the help of the Queen-mother it hath been thought it had been

VOL. XI. b
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had after all given little respite to the Huguenots, the
Catholic nobles, in their different governments, respect-
ing the promises made to them no further than suited
their own pleasure. Alengon was suspected of intend-
ing to take up their cause, and the King concluded,
after much hesitation, that it would be well, both for
himself and France, if Elizabeth would take him for a
husband. The princes and princesses of the sixteenth
century hung suspended between a prison and a throne.
The matrimonial crown of England might make Mon-
sieur dangerously powerful ; but there were objections
to murder, and the closest prison could not be made

conclusively secure. The marriage, on the whole, ap- -

peared to be the safest alternative.! Mauvissiére told
Walsingham, ¢that he could not sleep at night, for his
desire to bring about a matter so much for the repose
of Christendom ;2 while Elizabeth herself, as usual,
played with the suggestion, gave a favourable though
indecisive answer, but insisted on her old condition, that
she must see her bridegroom before she could make up
her mind.

Alengon himself was all eagerness. To him it had
long appeared that, with so poor an outlook in France,
a marriage with Elizabeth, though she was twice his
age, * would make him the happiest man alive : ” and
hard with Monsieur before this time, for the Queen-mother has always been
a stay to him, both as a mother and also as a stay for herself against the
Guises.” — Valentine Dale to Sir T. Smith, from Paris, September 3, 1575:
MB88. France.

1 ¢ The King demanded with very great affection, et ne se peult il faire
encore? The Queen-mother cast out words sometimes alone, sometimes
the King being present, to feel what she could understand of the Queen’s
Majesty's disposition, and certain it is both the King and Queen-mother
would with all their hearts the matter was ended, if they thought it might
be compassed, and might trust Monsieur at liberty.”’ — Same to the same

September 8, 15675: M 8. Ibid.
8 Manvissi¢re to Walsingham, September 4: M 8. Ibid.
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as his hopes, if e remained longer in.captivity, might
be cut short by a Guisian poniard, he became anxious
to place himself where his life would be safe, and where
he could fly to England when he pleased. The Guises,
dreading the effects of such an alliance on the prospects
of Mary Stuart, pressed the King to commit his brother
to the Bastile. On the 15th of September, when the
Cardinal of Guise was in the royal closet on this partic-
ular errand, Monsieur borrowed a carriage from a
friend, slipped out of the Louvre in disguise, and made
his way to St. Cloud. Several hundred mounted gen-
tlemen were waiting to receive him, and in a few
days he was with La Noue on the Loire, at the head
of a Huguenot army. All had been prepared for a
rising. He wrote to his brother, to say that he had
fled only to save his life. He put out a Proclamation,
in which he styled himself Protector of the liberties of
France.? Condé was at Strasburgh, ready to march
on Paris ; while Casimir, brother of the Elector Pala-
tine, entered Lorraine with 10,000 Reiters, meaning
to cross France and join La Noue.

The King, in real or affected dismay, remained idle
in the palace. He shut himself into his room, saw no
one, and * lay tormented on his bed,” with his mother
at his side. Hating and fearing equally both Guises
and Huguenots, he could form no plan and trust none
of his Council? The Duke of Guise flew to Lorraine,
and partially checked Casimir, but was wounded and
disabled in a skirmish. The treasury was empty ; the
Catholics were without leaders and disorganised. The
Queen-mother, as usual, undertook to mediate, and

1 Gouverneur-général pour le Roy et Protecteur de la liberts et biem
publique de France. — Dale to Burghley, September 21: M 88. France.

2 “Ipse sibi timet et metuit omnes, desideratur in eo animus et consil
tum.” — Same to the same: M8S. Ibid.
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went off to La .Noue’s camp to see Monsieur.
Huguenots, having been deceived so often, den.
substantial guarantees that the promises made wr ...
should be observed. They required the free exercise
of their religion in every part of France, with eight
large towns to be selected by themselves out of those
already in their possession, to be garrisoned by their
own men. Condé asked besides for Boulogne, and
Casimir for the payment of his expenses, with Metz,
Verdun, and Toul as securities.

The Queen-mother promised everything — but the
Huguenot leaders refused to dissolve their forces till
their terms were actually complied with. Alengon sent
to Elizabeth, to tell her that she was his chief hope on
earth ; that he longed to see her; that his ¢hief motive
in escaping was, that he might be sure of access to her
most precious person; and that meanwhile he relied
on her support. If she would join in a formal league
with himself and Casimir, they might dictate terms to
Europe ; if that could not be, he begged her to lend him,
at all events, some money ; and undertook to make no
peace in which she was herself not comprehended.!

Elizabeth’s position towards France was briefly this.
She could not yet trust the King, who had been the
chief instrument in the massacre of St. Bartholomew.
If the Guises became dominant they were likely to join
Spain, and interfere in England for Mary Stuart. If
the Huguenots got the better of them without help
from her, they would join the Prince of Orange, and
earn the gratitude of France by the annexation of the
Netherlands. A hold upon Alengon was therefore
extremzly desirable. She sent money — she replied

1 Instructions to La Porte sent to the Queen of England by the Due
d'Alengon, November 27, 16756: MSS. France.
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with gracious vagueness, that she would think about
the league ; that she approved of what he was Joing,
understanding that it was not directed against the
King, but against his ¢ ill advisers,” * whose passions
would not suffer him to enjoy quietness at home, nor
friendship with his best affected confederates.”! La
Noue meanwhile was in correspondence with Walsing-
ham, and keeping a watch on Monsieur, of whom he
felt uncertain so long as his mother was at hand to
play upon him 2

It was at the same moment that St. Aldegonde and -
his companions arrived in London with the offer of the
States ; and the Queen had two cards in her hand, to
play either or both as suited her convenience. The
Huguenots used their momentary superiority — Condé
set himself in motion at Strasburgh, and advanced
slowly on the Paris road. Casimir pushed on towards
the Loire, Guise, who had recovered from his wound,
following him and pressing for help from Philip.

The French King, only anxious for peace, became
more than ever desirous to dispose of his brother in
England. He told the English minister, that ¢ if he
might see the Duke so matched, he would sing Nunc
dimittis ; and that if he died without children, he would
settle his crown on her Majesty’s offspring.”® He
wrote to Elizabeth descanting on her divine perfec-
tions, and promising that if she would accept Alengon,
she should find more than a brother in himself.4

« Her Majesty,” said Walsingham once, impatiently.
% trusts much in fortune. I would she would trust

1 Her Majesty’s secret letter to the Duc d’Alengon. Walsingham's hand:
MB8S. France.

2 Walsingham to Burghley, November 22: M. Ibid.

8 Dale to Elizabeth, December 19.
4 The King of France to Elizabeth, December, 1575: 8. Ib.d.
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more in Almighty God.” Yet Elizabeth might be par
doned for relying on a power which so steadily be-
friended her, and in nothing more than in the charac-
ter of the two great sovereigns which divided Catholie
Europe. The weakness of Henry and the bigotry of
Philip were alike defences to English independence.
She had assisted Alengon ; she had not offended the
King. But the issue was still uncertain. Should
Monsieur’s victory be complete, he was morally certain
to offer help to the Low Countries, and in that case
she could only prevent the States from throwing them-
selves into his arms by becoming herself their protec-
tress. Should he be defeated, she might require the
help of the States herself, in the coalition which might
then be formed against her. So long as the uncer-
tainty lasted, therefore, she amused St. Aldegonde
with fair words and promises. In February, the King
of Navarre slipped from the Court as Alengon had
done. Rumours prophetic of the future said that he
was playing at dice with Guise, in the King’s cabinet,
when suddenly * great round drops of blood appeared
upon the board between them ; ”” and Navarre, believ-
ing it to be an omen of his fate if he waited longer, fled
to his friends.!

The Protestants had now their natural leader among
them, and never before or after had so fair a chance of
complete success. Money only was wanting. Alen-
gon applied again to Elizabeth. He asked only but
for means to keep Casimir’s Reiters two months longer
in the field, and the whole government of France would
then, he trusted, be in his hands.

But Elizabeth had done as much as she cared to

1 This curious story was current in Paris a week after. — Dale to Wal
singham, February 14: MSS. France.
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do. A little more and Alengon would be too strong.
The Court confirmed the concessions which the Prot-
estants demanded. The old edicts of toleration were
renewed ; they were declared equal with Catholics in
the eye of the law, and La Noue was allowed to keep
his eight towns. These terms were considered by
Elizabeth sufficiently liberal. The two factions would
balance each other, and England would be in mo
danger from either. She stipulated for, and exacted,
the repayment of the sum which she had ad-

vanced to Monsieur. But Condé did not

obtain Boulogne, no securities were given to Casimur,
and peace on these conditions was signed at Paris, on
the 24th of April.

The danger was now-held to be passed. St. Alde-
gonde therefore was dismissed with cold comfort.
Thomas Randolph was sent to Paris to tell Henry and
Alengon that she would rather assist the King of Spain
than allow them to meddle in the Low Countries.
The marriage overtures fell through, being no longer
needed till the reappearance of danger should revive
them.!

Randolph, who was not admitted to his mistress’s
secrets, could not understand what she was about. He
saw the Protestants left imperfectly secured. A little
more money, and Casimir, and La Noue, and Condé,
and Henry of Navarre, would have occupied Paris and
bave dictated their own conditions. ¢ Better it would
have been,” thought Randolph, ¢ had the Queen dealt
substantially with them whom she thought to profit by,
and cither not have gone so far or not have left the
cause for a little.” ¢Never was such an opportunity
thrown away,” he wrote to Walsingham. ¢ Do not

U Instructions to Thomas Randolph, sent to the French King, April 8,
1976: MSS. France. .
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think it choler or perverse humour in me, but rather

duty to my dear mistress, that I see daily so many

ways tending to her greatness, and yet either impoli-
ticly overthrown or negligently omitted, even for
nought or little when it was put into her hands. I can
say no more, but as the mad knave in Terence did —
¢ Doleo bolum tantum ereptum nobis & faucibus.’
I know not by what means I may retrahere illud argen-
tum [sic], which if I had in my hands the King
should full dear buy his peace.”? But what the cause
had lost Elizabeth supposed that she had herself gained.
When she encouraged revolting subjects with one
hand, she played with their sovereign with the other.
She conceived that she had placed France in such a
position that it could neither coalesce with Spain
against her, nor be dangerous by ambitious projects
elsewhere. She could now afford to throw off the Hol-
landers, or to follow out her scheme of reconciliation
with Philip, by assisting in their suppression.

It was not a noble, not a long-sighted policy. Wal-
singham had more than once to characterise his mis-
tress’s proceedings by the words ¢ dishonourable and
dangerous,” and Walsingham was not a man who used
such expressions lightly. But it suited her temper.
She- prided herself on the skill with which she handled
delicate manceuvres. It was economical. It gained
time. She lived, as the phrase is, *from hand to
mouth,” and trusted to her good luck to stand her
friend.

A few months proved Randolph’s simplicity to have
been wiser than the Queen’s cunning. The
Catholic nobles in France laughed the edicts
to scorn. Complaints were useless, for there was no

1 Randolph to Walsingham, April 25 and April 27: M88S. France,

June.
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central authority to attend to them. Alengon and the
Kmg were reconciled, and Alengon was won away
from his late friends. Guise, supplied with dollars
from Madrid, threatened the Huguenot towns. The
States General met at Blois in November. The Prot-
estants stayed away. A resolution was passed with
Alengon’s consent that the edicts were impracticable,
and that only one religion could be tolerated ; that the
Protestant ministers must either submit or go into
exile ; and that Condé and Navarre should lose their
rank as Princes of the blood, unless they were recon-
ciled with the Church.!

The Catholics were now entirely in the ascendant;
the Court was governed by the Duke of Guise ; Bliz-
abeth had overreached . herself by her refinements;
the danger which she most dreaded was at her door ;
when an extraordinary accident reversed the whole
position of affairs.

Alva had expected that the Netherlands could be
made to pay the cost of their conquest. He had
ruined the Netherlands, but he had not relieved the
Spanish exchequer. In the eight years which fol-
lowed his appointment as governor, Philip had spent
upon the war thirty-two millions of English money. His
resources were now severely tried. Requescens cculd
not wring another stiver from the Provinces; tle
bankers would not lend ; and when Requescens dicd,
the King of Spain was unable to resolve upon his suc-
cessor, and left his army for many months unpail and
uncommanded, to mutiny. Zierichsee was taken on

1 It is noticeable that when the breach of faith with the Huguenots was
first proposed, alone of all the nobles present, one * Mirabeau of Poit«u
protested that he would leave the court and the estates and withdraw to
his home if such impolitic and dishonourable speeches were perm.tted to be
made. — Advertisements par Blois, November, 1576: MSS. France.



74 History of England. [Cs. XXV
the 21st of June, 1576. The soldiers who had per-

formed so brilliant a service clamoured in return for
their wages ; and as there were no wages to be had,
they pillaged Schowen, and then marched through
Brabant, plundering as they went, to Alost. A shout
of indignation rose throughout Belgium. The nobles,
orthodox believers as they were, assembled at Brussels
to concert measures for self-protection. If rapine and
murder were to be the rewards of their loyalty, they
began to doubt whether, after all, they would not con-
sult their safety by making common cause with the
Prince of Orange. Don Sancho d’Avila, who com-
mapded at Antwerp, with the captains of the garri-
sons in Ghent, Maestrecht, and Valenciennes, threat-
ened destruction to the cities under their charge if the
country revolted. In the absence of a governor there
was no one to restrain the license of the army; and
the hungry Spaniards, soldiers and officers alike, were
ready to take advantage of the first excuse for indis-
criminate pillage. After long hesitation, Philip had
selected his illegitimate brother Don John to succeed
Requescens ; but Don John had not arrived, and the
delay was fraught with ruin. The scheme for his mar-
riage with Mary Stuart had been the difficulty. Guise
wished it, and the English Catholics wished it. But
Philip, to whom Don John was as much an object
of suspicion as Alengon or the King of France, was
utterly discouraging. Philip meant to remain on good
terms with Elizabeth, nor had he the slightest intention
of promoting his brother to an independent sovereignty.
Ardent Catholics throughout Europe had their hearts
fastened on the enterprise of England. Don John’s
appointment had been postponed, from a fear that he
might abuse his opportunity and act upon their insti-
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gation. He was sent to his government with a prohi-
bition to meddie in English politics at all ; and Philip’s
secretary, the unlucky Escobedo, was sent with him as
a check on his ambition, and a spy upon his actions.

Don John notwithstanding still allowed his thoughts
to wander in the forbidden direction. Information,
true or false, reached Elizabeth that on his passage
through France he had held an interview with Guise,
where it had been arranged that as soon as the Hugue-
not towns were reduced, they were to make a joint
demand upon her for the release of the Queen of
Scots.! Escobedo betrayed Philip’s trust, and encour-
aged what he had been commissioned to prevent. To
conquer England, conquer the Netherlands through
England, and win a throne for himself, appears to have
been Don John's fixed idea as he hastened to his gov-
ernment. The condition in which he found the Prov-
inces dispelled rapidly these visionary schemes.

M. Champagny, hitherto the most loyal of the Bel-
gian nobles, was at the head of the new movement.
Orange, seizing the opportunity, had sent circulars
through the seventeen States, urging the people to rise
and defend their liberties. Champagny had responded
cordially, and the Spanish officers, to read a lesson, as
they pretended, to the incipient matiny, had dropped
the reins on the geck of the army, and given over the
threatened towns for the soldiers to work their will
upon. Maestrecht was sacked on the 20th of October,
and several hundreds of the citizens were murdered.
A fortnight later Antwerp itself found a yet more
ireadful fate. The palaces of its merchant princes,

1 Sir Amyas Paulet, who had succeeded Dale as ambassador at Paris,
heard of the interview from Guise’s secretary. He made further enquirier
and assured himself that it had really taken place. — Paulet to Burghlev
April, 1577; Paulet to Walsq:gham, May 9, 1577: MSS. France.
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the magnificent Bourse, the warehouses which lined
its quays for miles, a thousand houses and
public buildings, were given to the flames.
The banks were pillaged. The wealth of the richest
city in the world became the prey of men who were
no better now than the banditti of their own forests,
and eight thousand men, women, and children, were
either killed or flung into the river.

Touched to the quick at last, the slow-moving Flem-
ings sprung to arms. Ghent feared the same fate as
Antwerp. Thousands of patriots poured in, and en-
closed the Spanish garrison in the citadel. The States
General assembled there with representatives from the
entire Netherlands. The Prince of Orange came in
person out of Holland, and on the 8th of November,
the seventeen Provinces were once more
united in the #reaty of Ghent for common
defence against the Spaniards. They pledged their
faith to each other to expel all foreign troops, and never
again under any pretence to admit them. They re-
solved to insist for the future on being governed under
their own laws. In the heartiness of the first reunion
they suspended everywhere the laws against heresy,
the ultimate settlement of religion being referred to
a special convocation which was *o meet when the
liberation should be complete.

Two days before the conclusion of this momentous
treaty, Don John arrived at Luxemburg, and there he
thought it prudent to remain. The Protestant and Cath-
olic elements, hitherto in most deadly enmity, were for
the present united against him. It was uncertain
‘whether the union would continue, or whether the dif-
ference of creed would not prove too powerful a dis-
integrant. One large influence Don John could count

November 8.

November 8.
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upon with confidence. To priests and monks sacked
cities were of less moment than the maintenance ot
orthodoxy. The confessional would be in his favour
from the first, and the pulpit when the first passion
had cooled down.

The States, after subscribing the treaty of Ghent,
dispatched M. Schwegenhem, who had been Alva's

~ commissioner for the reopening of the trade, to Eliza-
beth to ask for advice, encouragement, and as usual,
for an immediate loan. It was no longer Holland and
Zealand struggling half conquered on the edge of de-
struction : all the Provinces were standing erect,
shoulder to shoulder, in strength sufficient, if their
union held, to defy Spain to do its worst. Don John
had been told that if he would accept the treaty of
Ghent, and dismiss the Spaniards, he would be received
quietly as governor; on this condition, however, the
States General peremptorily insisted. But below the
outward unanimity a thousand counter-currents were
already seething and eddying. What France would
do under existing influences, conld hardly be guessed.
Guise, who was thoroughly Spanish, desired to join
Don John. The King and the politicians had their
eyes upon the Catholic Provinces, and tried to per-
suade them to accept a French protectorate.

Some weeks passed before Elizabeth could see her
way. While the horror of the Antwerp fury was
fresh, while patriotism was stronger than religious ha=
tred, and the Prince of Orange was the idol for the
moment of all the States which had signed the treaty,
¢t might have been thought that she would have seen,
and would for her own sake have used, so splendid an
opportunity. It would be safer for the Queen, said

; Orange, to ally herself with peoples and with a great
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eause, than with princes who sought their own conven-
ience, and were not to be relied upon.! But Elizabet}
despised ** peoples,” and cared nothing for the *¢ great
cause.” She feared Don John. She meant to take
advantage of his difficulties to obtain securities for her-
self and England. But then, and always, she wished
the Provinces to remain Spanish. The Prince of
Orange and the Protestants were her good friends ; but
she dreaded the spread of their principles as complicat-
ing the problem of pacification. If she did too much,
she might find herself at war with Spain ; if too little,
France was ready to step in and take the place which
had been first offered to herself.

The situation was exactly suited to the character of
her diplomacy. She decided to lend, not give, a cer-
tain sum of money — forty thousand pounds. Twenty
thousand were sent in bullion on the spot, the rest fol-
lowed soon after. She stipulated that she was to be
repaid in full, in eight months. She had an excuse
ready for Philip, that she was merely enabling the
States to repay the arrears of the Spanish army, to
prevent further violence. She sent Dr. Wilson to the
States, to caution them against listening to the prom-
ises which would be made them by Don John. She
sent Sir Edward Horsey to Don John, to tell him that
she had forbidden the States to renounce their alle-
giance to Spain. She said generally, that she would
help the Provinces to maintain their liberties. She in-
timated privately to Schwegenhem, who was a Catholic, -
that she had no liking for the Prince of Orange, that
peace must not be imperilled by difficulties about
iberty of conscience, and that as a condition of her

1 Daniel Rogers to Walsingham, July 20, 1577: M8S. Flanders.
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support the States must accept whatever religion the
King of Spain might be pleased. to impose on them.!

On this point she was limpidly clear. She was de-
termined that there should be no mistake aboutit. The
creed in which the Hollanders had been brought up
would do as well for them as it had done for their
fathers?

The differences of opinion already existing were not
likely to be diminished by this message. To the Hol-
landers, religion was the soul and centre of the revolt.
If they would have yielded on that one point, they
might have been quit of the Spaniards, and have had
their country to themselves when they pleased, with-
out seeking assistance from Elizabeth. After five
weeks’ confusion and correspondence, the States pro-

1 ¢ Sa Mate Jeur a presté de I'argent a condition de se maintenir en
I'obeisance du Roy et de recepvoir telle religion que leur Roy vouldra et
non aultre. C'est ce que M. de Schwegenhem leur a dict de la part de sa
Mate’* — Villiers (chaplain to the Prince of Orange) to Walsingham,
February 4, 1577: M 88. Flanders.

2 Not through Schwegenhem only, but by other , she had exp d
her resolution on the matter. The Prince of Orange found soon after —

“ Que sa Mate avoit deliberé de conseiller Messieurs des Estatz de main-
tenir la religion Romaine en la quelle ils ont esté nez et eslevez, chose qui
nous seroit tant prejudiciable que rien ne nous sgauroit venir plus mal a
Ppropos en ce temps-cy.”

And again later —

‘ Depuis les miennes du jour d'hier j’ay regeu ung extraict de I'article
touchant la volunte de sa Mate en ce qui touche la religion Romaine,
lequel a exté tiré du rapport de M. de Havrech. Aussi que tant s’en fault
qu'elle vouloist ingerer d'y introduire aucune nouvellete que mesmes au
eontraire desiroit bien sa Mate qui sceussiez qu'elle ne permettroit en fagon
quelco "que que nouveaute y fust introduite et moins qu'on intentast chose
vrejudiciable & I'obeissance de nostre souverain Prince et Seigneur naturel
\u & la religion Catholique en la quelle estions nez et nourries et nostre
Prince vouloit que nous fussions maintenez.”” — The Prince of Orange to
Davison, January 4 and 5, 1578: M8S. Flanders.

Orange, to whom trath and falsehood in these matters were not only of
principal but of exclusive importance, who had taken up arms for no other
cause whatever except liberty of conscience, was unable to comprehend sc
sublime a development of indifferentism.
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voged,.and Don John agreed, that the Spanish army
should be paid the arrears of its wages and should go,
and that the. government should be carried
on as before the rebellion by the States them-
selves. So far, the pacification of Ghent was accepted.
The farther clauses stipulating for the suspension of
the laws against heresy, were to be referred to Philip’s
pleasure, and were to stand in force till that pleasure
was known. Orange was no party to this arrange-
ment. Advantage had been taken of his absence from
Brussels to hurry it to a conclusion. There was no
representative present from the Northern States, not
only not from Holland and Zealand, but neither from
Utrecht, Gelderland, Friesland, Gréningen, nor Over-

Yebruary 17.

yssel. Efforts had been made to prevent a resolation .

till the opinions of these provinces could be heard, but
the reasons urged for delay were to the Catholic Wal-
loons an additional motive for haste. The Prince sus-
pended his assent. The seven Provinces supported
him in demanding acceptance pure and simple of the
Ghent treaty. But intrigue and Elizabeth’s influence
had done their work, and Don John by the vote of the
majority was admitted as governor.

It was Elizabeth’s work, distinctly hers, and wher-
ever her hand can be traced, the same purpose can be
invariably discovered. As her father held the balance
between France and Spain, and could choose for his
motto the proud ¢ Cui adhereo preest,” so Elizabeth
aspired to hold the same relation between peoples and
sovereigns, between Protestants and Catholics ; cer-
tain that the Protestants would stand by her when she
might need their assistance, because they were the
weaker side, but not choosing to take their part, choos~
ing rather to appear indifferent or hostile to them, lest
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if she demanded toleration for others, the Catholic Pow-
ers and her own Catholic subjects would make an an-
swering demand upon herself. In distinct opposition
to Walsingham, she felt assured that Philip desired to
be on good terms with her, and that the dreams of Don
John would find no support or countenance from his
master if the provocation did not come from herself.
She was told that the Catholic Powers understood each
other, that Alengon was now to marry the Infanta,
that Guise and Alengon and Don John, with Spain
and the Papacy behind them, intended to invade Eng-
land, tear from her hands the imprisoned Queen of
Scots, and lift her to the throne. She did not believe
it. She waived aside the leadership of Protestant
Europe so often thrust into her hands. Her sym-
pathies were with established sovereigns and order
and law, and she sought her friends among her own
equals.

Further and immediate communication was now
necessary with her brother-in-law. Among the Catho-
lics or Anglo-Catholics at her court (the words meant
the same thing in all but dependence upon Rome),
there was a certain Sir John Smith, a courtier, a be-
.ever in kings, an accomplished Spanish scholar, with
an English orthodoxy of creed, and an equally English
contempt for the priests who were its ministers. Him
Elizabeth chose for a second mission to Madrid, either
to reside as ambassador there or to return, as might
seem most expedient; at all events to explain her con-
duct in the Netherlands, to renew her offer of media-
tion, and to require a more distinct protection for the
English traders. Other ships had ‘been seized besides
Sir Edward Osborne’s, the seamen thrown into dun-
geons, and the cargoes confiscated. With the Nether-

VOL. XI. 6
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Iands problem returned upon his hands, the King, she
thought, would see the necessity of now keeping the
Inquisition under control.

On Smith’s arrival, the Spanish Council assembled
as before. The bigots tried their strength. *The
Bishop of Cuenga, like Hopper and Quiroga, insisted
again that the Queen of England was a heretic ; that
God forbade dealings with such people ; that an’ inter-
ference with the Inquisition in their behalf was a thing
that was not to be endured. But Alva had this time
a distinct majority on his side. He persuaded the
most influential of Philip’s advisers that they had to
* thank Elizabeth that the entire Provinces were not in
arms against them, that on the score of religion they
had nothing to fear from her, that she had thrown her
weight upon the orthodox side, and that she was an in-
valuable ally to the Catholic Powers, in resisting the
demand for toleration.! For her own sake she would
not ask for others what she would not allow in Eng-
land ; all else that she might desire the King could
reasonably concede; and if the Spanish troops were
really forced to leave the Netherlands, her friendship
would be indispensable.2 The reasoning was entirely
convincing. Philip wrote an affectionate letter to
Elizabeth thanking her for her propesal of mediation.
He said that he would gladly avail himself of it if Don
John failed to come to an understanding with the
States without her. For himself, meanwhile, he as-

1 4 No osara pedir lo de la Religion, pues demas que sabe quan mal lo
s, maria V. Magd, ella haria contra su misma, que quiere que sus vassallog
ra obedezcan con la religion que tiene, y no podria pedir otra cosa & az
Magd.” — Parecer de Alva, 1577: MSS. Simancas.

2 ¢ Saliendo los Espaiioles es fuerca que V. Magd tenga por amiga &
aquella Reyna y obligada como iv quedaria contra los Estados quando ne
cumplieven I¢ que habieren prometido.” — Ibid.
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sured her that he was, and ever would remain, her
constant friend.!

The Inquisition difficulty still remained. The In
quisition, as Secretary Cayas explained, was an eccle-
siastical tribunal, over which the King himself had no
regular authority. It was surrounded with the terrors
which superstition and practical fear combined to in-
spire, and Cayas spoke of it as a mysterious force which
it was dangerous even to attempt to meddle with. An
Englishman, brought up in the traditions of Henry
IIL., felt none of these timidities. The creed might
be sacred, but Inquisitors were mere priests, who med-
dled with the persons and properties of the Queen’s
subjects.

Quiroga, Archbishop of Toledo, was the first subject
in the Peninsula. Next to the King in his place in
Council, superior to the King in wielding the irrespon-
sible powers of the Holy Office, he was a person before
whom princes stood with bated breath, while meanet
citizens knelt as he passed along the streets. Smith
had more than once applied for an interview with this
august personage. Quiroga, who five years before had
refused to deliver the message of the Council to Cobham,
lest he should defile himself by speaking to an excom-
municated Englishman, sent cold answers that he could
not see him. Sir John, who had encountered arch-
‘bishops in London and had not found them formidable,
did not choose to be put off in this way. He went
one evening to the palace, brushed past the porter,
ascended the stairs, and forced himself into the sacred
presence.

It was after supper. The Archbishop was in his
private room with the Condé de Andrada and two

1 Carta de su Mag! 4 1a Inglesa con Juan Smith.
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priests. He stared haughtily at the- intruder, who
proceeded to tell him, with entire coolness, that he
considered he had been treated with scanty courtesy.
He was the minister of a great Queen, he said, and as
such, was entitled to be received and heard when he
had anything to communicate. The promises made
to Cobham had been broken. The Holy Office had
continued to ill-use English seamen who had com-
mitted no offence, to rob, imprison, and otherwise injure
them. He must request the immediate release of those
who were at present in the Inquisitors’ hands, with
compensation for the injuries which they had sustained.

The Archbishop had remained while the Ambassa-
dor was speaking, dumb with anger and amazement.
At last, finding his voice, and starting from his seat in
fury, he exclaimed: “Sirrah!! I tell you that, but
for certain respects, I would so chastise you for these
words that you have spoken, that I would make you
an example to all your kind. I would chastise you, I
say ; I would make you know to whom you speak in
such shameless fashion.”

* Sirrah !’ replied Smith, in a fury too, and proud
of his command of the language which enabled him to
retort the insult, ¢ Sirrah ! I tell you that I care nei-
ther for you nor your threats.”

“«“Quitad os!” ¢ Be off with you!” shouted Qui-
roga, foaming with rage, *leave the room! away! I
say.”

“ If you call me Sirrah,” said Smith, ¢ I will call
vou Sirrah. I will complain to his Majesty of this.”

1 %Yo os digo.” Sirrah is too mild a word ; but we have no full equiva-
tent. “QOs" js used by a Kking to subjects, by a father to children, more
rarely by a master to a servant. It is a mark of infinite distance between

» superior and inferior. “ Dog " would, perhaps, come pearest to the Areh
bishop’s meaning in the present conpnexion.
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« Complain te whom you will,” said the Archbishop.
“ Be off with you! Go!”

** Be off yourself!” retorted the Englishman, mov-
ing, however, to the door ; the graceful interchange of
insolence continuing till the Ambassador was out of
hearing, and the Archbishop following and railing at
him from the head of the stairs.}

Philip was greatly distressed, but his desire to
gratify Elizabeth overcame his awe of the Inquisitor-
General. He apologised to Smith. He entreated,
he argued, and at last insisted that the Holy Office
should make concessions. The prisoners at Seville
were released and their property restored. The
promises made to Cobham were confirmed in writ-
ing, and Englishmen ‘were enabled thenceforward
to trade without molestation at the Spanish ports.
They were required only to obey the laws when on
shore and to abstain — no easy matter to them — from
insulting Catholic superstitions.? Elizabeth in Eng-
land and Philip at Madrid were contending with all
their‘ might against the irrepressible tendencies of things.

1 Sir John Smith's Narrative, May 19, 1577: MS8S. Spain.

2 Quiroga, when not exasperated, could discuss these questions in an
unexpectedly practical temper. An English merchant had married a
young Spanish lady at Seville. He had called himself a Catholic, and the
marriage had been celebrated with the rites of the Catholic Church. In
England, however, he was a conformist, and on his attempting to take her
with him, she hesitated, and appealed to the Holy Office. She was preg-
nant. The husband pleaded that marriage was sacred, and that to separate
his wife from him would be an affront to the English Church. Quiroga
answered with singular moderation. * The lady,” he said, * had ascertained
that in England the use of images was forbidden, and that she would be
obliged to attend sermons. Being a religious woman she had applied to
the church for direction, and her director considered that in going she
would commit mortal sin. If she herself wished to go, it would be another
matter. The Inquisition could .not sanction it, but also would not inter-
fere.” — The Archbishop of Toledo to Cayas, February, 1577: M 8S. Siman.
oas.
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Their subjects might quarrel, hate, and insult each
other, but hostility, so far as they could prevent it,
should not be. Doctor Sanders, who had come to
Spain in the hope of inducing the King to invade Ire-
land, found only indifference and discouragement. He
found Philip ¢ as fearful of war as a child of fire.” He
wrote to his friend Allen, who, like himself, considered
that the welfare of Europe ¢ depended on the stout as-
sailing of England,” that ¢ there was no steady com-
fort but from God,” that they must look to the Pope,
and not the King of Spain.!

Smith did not remain at Madrid. He returned after
three-quarters of a year, loaded with messages of
friendliness, and with every demand conceded. The
diplomatic relations between ‘the two countries were
reéstablished, as was hoped, upon an enduring basis.
The expulsion of Don Guerau de Espes was passed
over as a not unfair retaliation upon Spain for its share
in the Ridolfi conspiracy ; and Bernardino de Mendoza,
who had already made acquaintance with Elizabeth, was
appointed as resident ambassador at the English Court.
Those statesmen who saw furthest did not believ® that
the reconciliation could last. Walsingham and Wal-
singham’s party felt assured that in the long run the
opposing forces which divided Europe would prove too
strong for the efforts of politicians.2 But that Eliza-
beth, with her opinions, should have struggled to
escape from war, was in itself legitimate and natural,
and situated as she was at home, she had good cause
to dread the consequences of a more daring attitude.

1 Sanders to Allen, November 6,1577: MSS. Domestic.

3 ¢« Never will there be perfect amity among any that are divided in re-
ligion. Her Majesty may dislike my plain words, but better she be angry
with me than herself feel the smart hereafter.” — Wilson: to Walsingham.
April 5,1577: M88S. Flanders.
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Had she been secure in her own island, she might have
held out a hand without fear to the struggling
Protestants abroad. Baut the unruly elements
were working together throughout all Christendom, as
the ebb and flow of the Atlantic tide was felt at Rich-
mond, under the palace windows. A sketch of the
domestic history of these years will show that when
once committed to forbearance and procrastination, she
was all but forced to continue in the same direction.

The Parliament of 1572 had petitioned for the execu-
tion of the Queen of Scots. The alternatives seemed
to lie between the crown and the scaffold ; and when
the petition was refused, and she was not declared in-
capable of the succession, Mary Stuart was generally
looked upon as the inevitable future sovereign. While
the alarm of the conspiracy was fresh, she had been
placed under restraint, and efforts were made, and con-
tinued to be made, to replace her in the hands of the
Scots. But when it became clear that she must re-
main in England, she was soon again the guest rather
than the prisoner of Lord Shrewsbury. She was
treated much as Mary Tudor was treated under her
brother, and as Elizabeth herself had been treated after
her release from Woodstock; in some respects her
position was better, for she was still called a Queen,
and was allowed her cloth of state. She was not per-
mitted to go where she pleased, but she had all the
enjoyments and conven